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Oliver, Wyman Limited  

Certification 

This Certificate is prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Insurance Act, 2005 in 

respect of the life and health insurance business of Laurentide Insurance and Mortgage Company 

Limited. 

I have examined the financial position, and valued the policy liabilities for its balance sheet as at 

December 31, 2018, and the corresponding change in the policy liabilities in the income 

statement for the year then ended. 

In my opinion 

1. The methods and procedures used in the verification of the valuation data are sufficient and 

reliable, and fulfill the required standards of care. 

2. The methods and assumptions used to calculate the actuarial and the other policy liabilities 

are appropriate to the circumstances of the company and of the said policies and claims. 

3. The valuation of actuarial and other policy liabilities has been made in accordance with 

generally accepted actuarial practice (with such changes as determined and any directions 

made by the Commission). 

4. The valuation is appropriate under the circumstances of the company and the financial 

statements fairly reflect its results. 

5. Having regard for the results of the investigation performed pursuant to section 62 of the 

Insurance Act, 2005 the value of actuarial and other policy liabilities, when taken together with 

the total capital available makes good and sufficient provisions for all unmatured obligations 

under the terms of the policies in force. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leslie P. Rehbeli 

Fellow of the Society of Actuaries 

Fellow of the Canadian Institute of Actuaries 

Member of American Academy of Actuaries 

January 31, 2019 
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COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at December 31, 2018, with corresponding figures as of December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 

(Expressed in Bahamian $’000s) 

 

Notes 2018 2017 January 1, 2017

ASSETS (Restated) (Restated)

   Cash and deposits with banks 5,7 34,010$           30,611$          31,764$             

   Balances with The Central Bank of The Bahamas 5,7 147,772           98,288            93,558               

   Investments 5,8,25 457,572           404,841          309,702             

   Loans and advances to customers 5,9,21 992,418           1,053,969       1,122,589          

   Other assets 10 15,961             18,011            7,316                 

   Premises and equipment 6,11 47,494             44,818            46,014               

TOTAL ASSETS 6 1,695,227$      1,650,538$     1,610,943$        

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES:

   Deposits from customers 5,12,21 1,311,244$      1,274,262$     1,240,505$        

   Life insurance fund liability 13 2,951               5,599              13,268               

   Other liabilities 14,21 15,513             14,991            22,118               

          Total liabilities 6 1,329,708        1,294,852       1,275,891          

EQUITY:

   Share capital 15 83,441             83,444            83,445               

   Share premium 15 17,198             19,195            19,516               

   General reserve 17 10,500             10,500            10,500               

   Retained earnings 254,380           242,547          221,591             

          Total equity 365,519           355,686          335,052             

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 1,695,227$      1,650,538$     1,610,943$        

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Directors on March 21, 2019, and are 
signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
    
Executive Chairman  President 
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COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 
Year ended December 31, 2018, with corresponding figures for 2017 
(Expressed in Bahamian $’000s) 

 

Notes 2018 2017

INCOME (Restated)

   Interest income, effective interest rate method 5,21 153,978$         166,760$        

   Interest expense 5,6,21 (19,505)           (24,837)           

          Net interest income 134,473           141,923          

   Credit life insurance premiums, net 2,423               (3,007)             

   Fees and other income 5,19 15,865             14,200            

   Unrealised gains on equity investment 5,25 820                  1,058              

          Total income 6 153,581           154,174          

NON-INTEREST EXPENSE

   General and administrative 20,21,22 71,078             68,881            

   Impairment losses 9 27,693             36,613            

   Insurance claims incurred 13 2,089               1,615              

   Change in insurance reserves 13 (2,648)             (7,669)             

   Depreciation and amortization 6,11 3,157               3,339              

   Directors' fees 273                  261                 

          Total non-interest expense 101,642           103,040          

TOTAL PROFIT 6,16 51,939             51,134            

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

   Remeasurement (loss) gain of defined benefit obligation 22 (299)                9,548              

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 51,640$           60,682$          

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS 

   PER COMMON SHARE (expressed in dollars) 16 0.16$               0.16$              

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
Year ended December 31, 2018, with corresponding figures for 2017 
(Expressed in Bahamian $’000s) 

 

Notes

Share Capital 

(Common)

Share Capital 

(Preference)

Share 

Premium

General 

Reserve

Retained 

Earnings Total

As at December 31, 2017 - Restated 25 $1,946 $81,498 $19,195 $10,500 $242,547 $355,686

      IFRS 9 transition adjustment 2,9 -                       -                       -                        -                        (115)                (115)                    

As at January 1, 2018 - Restated $1,946 $81,498 $19,195 $10,500 $242,432 355,571              

Comprehensive Income

      Total profit 51,939            51,939                

      Remeasurement loss of 

            defined benefit obligation -                       -                       -                        -                        (299)                (299)                    

-                       -                       -                        -                        51,640            51,640                

Transaction with owners

      Repurchase of common shares (3)                     (1,997)               (2,000)                 

      Dividends - common shares 15 (35,000)           (35,000)               

      Dividends - preference shares 16 -                       -                       -                        -                        (4,692)             (4,692)                 

(3)                     -                       (1,997)               -                        (39,692)           (41,692)               

As at December 31, 2018 1,943$             81,498$           17,198$            10,500$            $254,380 365,519$            

Dividends per common share (expressed in dollars) $0.12

Share Capital 

(Common)

Share Capital 

(Preference)

Share 

Premium

General 

Reserve

Retained 

Earnings Total

As at January 1, 2017 $1,947 $81,498 $19,516 $10,500 $219,396 $332,857

      Restatement adjustment 25 -                       -                       -                        -                        2,195              2,195                  

As at January 1, 2017 - Restated $1,947 $81,498 $19,516 $10,500 $221,591 $335,052

Comprehensive Income

      Total profit - Restated 25 51,134            51,134                

      Remeasurement gain of 

            defined benefit obligation -                       -                       -                        -                        9,548              9,548                  

-                       -                       -                        -                        60,682            60,682                

Transaction with owners

      Repurchase of common shares (1)                     (321)                  (322)                    

      Dividends - common shares 15 (35,034)           (35,034)               

      Dividends - preference shares 16 -                       -                       -                        -                        (4,692)             (4,692)                 

(1)                     -                       (321)                  -                        (39,726)           (40,048)               

As at December 31, 2017 - Restated 25 1,946$             81,498$           19,195$            10,500$            $242,547 355,686$            

Dividends per common share (expressed in dollars) $0.12

2017

2018

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Year ended December 31, 2018, with corresponding figures for 2017 
(Expressed in Bahamian $’000s) 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

   Interest receipts 139,100$          152,142$        

   Interest payments (19,003)             (26,518)           

   Credit life insurance premiums received (refunded), net 2,423                (3,007)             

   Credit life insurance claims and expenses paid (2,575)               (1,911)             

   Fees and other income received 16,238              14,428            

   Recoveries, loans and advances to customers 9 12,665              12,362            

   Cash payments to employees and suppliers (71,930)             (75,671)           

76,918              71,825            

 Increase in minimum reserve requirement 7 (4,510)               (2,351)             

 Increase in restricted time deposit 7 (371)                  (206)                

 Decrease in loans and advances to customers 22,057              19,644            

 Increase in deposits from customers 36,982              33,757            

          Net cash from operating activities 131,076            122,669          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

   Purchase of investments (297,127)           (167,551)         

   Interest receipts from investments 16,177              13,733            

   Redemption of investments 245,317            74,356            

   Purchase of premises and equipment 11 (5,933)               (2,190)             

   Net proceeds from sale of premises and equipment 11 184                   51                   

          Net cash used in investing activities (41,382)             (81,601)           

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

   Dividends paid 15,16 (39,692)             (39,726)           

   Repurchase of common shares 15 (2,000)               (322)                

          Net cash used in financing activities (41,692)             (40,048)           

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 48,002              1,020              

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 77,209              76,189            

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 7 125,211$          77,209$          

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended December 31, 2018, with corresponding figures for 2017 
(All amounts stated as actual amounts, except tabular amounts which are expressed in 
Bahamian $’000s) 

 

1. INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES 
 
Commonwealth Bank Limited (the “Bank”) is incorporated in The Commonwealth of The 
Bahamas and is licensed by The Ministry of Finance to carry out banking business in The 
Bahamas under the provisions of the Banks and Trust Companies Regulations Act 2000. 
 
The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are described in Note 6. 
 
The registered office of the Bank is situated at Sassoon House, Shirley Street, Nassau, 
Bahamas. 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements are set out below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all years 
presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 

(a) Basis of preparation 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  This is the first set of the Group’s 
annual financial statements in which IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers have been applied. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment 
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgments are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
Actual results could differ from those estimates.  The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3. 
 
New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group  

 
Standards and amendments and interpretations to published standards that became 
effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 January 2018 are discussed in 
Note 2 (c). 
 
New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted by the Group 

 
With the exception of IFRS 16 Leases (IFRS 16) and IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 
17) the application of new standards and amendments and interpretations to existing 
standards that have been published but are not yet effective are not expected to have a 
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material impact on the Group’s accounting policies or consolidated financial statements 
in the financial period of initial application.  
 
IFRS 16 results in lessees accounting for most leases within the scope of the standard in a 
manner similar to the way in which finance leases are currently accounted for under IAS 17 
Leases (IAS 17).  Lessees will recognise a ‘right of use’ asset and a corresponding financial 
liability on the statement of financial position. The asset will be amortised over the length of 
the lease and the financial liability measured at amortised cost. Lessor accounting remains 
substantially the same as in IAS 17. The Group has not yet assessed the full impact of 
adopting IFRS 16, which is effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019. 
 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17) was issued in May 2017.  Whereas the 
current standard, IFRS 4, allows insurers to use their local GAAP, IFRS 17 defines 
clear and consistent rules that will significantly increase the comparability of 
financial statements. For insurers, the transition to IFRS 17 will have an impact on 
financial statements and on key performance indicators.  
 
The new standard is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2021.  The Group has not yet assessed the full impact of adopting IFRS 17. 
 

(b) Principles of consolidation 

 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has 
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 

 

(c) Changes in significant accounting policies 

 

Effective January 1, 2018, the Group adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) 
and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15).  The adoption of IFRS 
15 did not have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
 
Due to the transition methods chosen by the Group in applying these standards, 
comparative information throughout these statements has not been restated.  
 

i. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

 

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) in July 2014 with a transition date of January 1, 2018.  IFRS 9 sets out 
requirements for recognizing and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and 
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some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items.  This standard replaces IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  
 
The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in the Group’s accounting policies 
for recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities and impairment of financial assets.   
 
Additionally the Group has adopted consequential amendments to IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures that are applied to disclosures relative to 2018 but have not 
been generally applied to comparative information. 
 
As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Group elected not to restate 
comparative figures.  Any adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
liabilities at the date of transition were recognised in the opening retained earnings. 
 
Consequential amendments to IFRS 7 disclosures have also only been applied to the 
current period.  The comparative period notes repeat those disclosures made in the 
prior year. 
 
The impact of the transition to IFRS 9 on retained earnings and impairment 
allowances is disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and Note 
9, respectively. 
 
The Group’s net change in impairment losses at January 1, 2018 was not material. 
 

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: (i) 
amortised cost, (ii) fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), or (iii) fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).   
 
The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business 
model under which the asset is held and its contractual cash flow characteristics.  
IFRS 9 eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and 
receivables and available for sale.  
 
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and 
measurement of liabilities. 
 
The table below explains the original measurement categories under IAS 39 and the 
new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for the applicable classes of the Group’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities as at January 1, 2018.    
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New New Original Original

classification carrying amount classification carrying amount

under IFRS 9 under IFRS 9 under IAS 39 under IAS 39

FINANCIAL ASSETS

   Cash and deposits with banks Amortised cost $30,611 Loans and receivables $30,611

   Balance with The Central Bank  Amortised cost $98,288 Loans and receivables $98,288

   Investments Amortised cost $401,513 Held-to-maturity $401,513

FVTPL $3,328 FVTPL $3,328

   Loans and advances to customers Amortised cost $1,054,084 Loans and receivables $1,053,969

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

   Deposits from customers

Other financial 

liabilities $1,274,262

Other financial 

liabilities $1,274,262

 
 

Reconciliation of financial assets and financial liabilities from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 

 
The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 
liabilities, from their previous measurement category in accordance with IAS 39 to 
their new measurement categories upon transition to IFRS 9 on January 1, 2018. 

 

IAS 39 carrying IFRS 9 carrying

amount amount

December 31, 2017 Reclassifications Remeasurements January 1, 2018

FINANCIAL ASSETS

   Cash and deposits with banks $30,611 -                         -                           $30,611

   Balance with The Central Bank  $98,288 -                         -                           $98,288

   Investments $404,841 -                         -                           $404,841

   Loans and advances to customers $1,053,969 -                         $115 $1,054,084

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

   Deposits from customers $1,274,262 -                         -                           $1,274,262

 
 

The remeasurement relative to loans and advances to customers is the remeasurement 
associated with expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance.  
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Reconciliation of impairment allowance balance IAS 39 to IFRS 9 

 
The following table reconciles the prior period’s closing impairment allowance 
balance under IAS 39 to IFRS 9 at January 1, 2018. 

 

IAS 39 carrying IFRS 9 carrying

amount amount

December 31, 2017 Reclassifications Remeasurements January 1, 2018

Residential mortgage 22,035$                        -                         (2,535)$                19,500$               

Business 1,728                            -                         (347)                     1,381                   

Personal 49,845                          -                         3,564                   53,409                 

Credit card 3,592                            -                         (567)                     3,025                   

77,200$                        -$                       115$                    77,315$               

 

 

Impairment of financial assets  

 

IFRS 9 replaces the 'incurred loss' model in IAS 39 with an ECL model resulting in 
credit losses being recognised earlier when compared to IAS 39.  The IFRS 9 
impairment model applies to various classes of financial assets including those 
carried at amortised cost.  All of the Group’s financial assets are carried at amortised 
cost. 
  
IFRS 9 recognises impairment in three stages as discussed in Note 2 (n).  Because 
movements between stages are expected to be dynamic, and also considering the 
application of forward looking information, impairment allowances are expected to 
be more volatile under IFRS 9 than IAS 39.   
 
Additional information about how the Group measures the allowance for impairment 
is described in Note 2 (n). 

 

ii. IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

 
IFRS 15 replaced IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related 
interpretations.   
 
The principal objective of IFRS 15 is to establish the principles that should be applied 
by an entity in order to report useful information to users of financial statements 
about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising 
from contracts with customers. 
 
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers, reflecting the amount of 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods 
and services. 
 
IFRS 15 explicitly excludes from its scope transactions governed by IFRS 9. As it 
relates to the Group, the following are within the scope of IFRS 15: 
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• Credit card service and transactions fees; 

• Loan fees, excluding commitment and origination fees; and 

• Deposit account and transaction fees. 
 
Given that the Group’s non-IFRS 9 related contracts with customers are not complex 
and do not meet the criteria for recognition of revenue over time, the application of IFRS 
15 had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
 

(d) Recognition of income and expense 

 
Prior to the adoption of IFRS 9, interest income and expense were recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, based on the 
gross carrying amount of the instrument.  From January 1, 2018 the Group recognises 
interest income and expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income for all financial instruments measured at amortised cost using the 
method previously described, with the exception of financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired (‘Stage 3’ financial assets).  For these financial 
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their 
amortised cost (i.e. net of the expected impairment loss allowance).  
 
Loan origination fees for loans are deferred (together with related direct costs) and 
recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loans.  The adjustment to 
the effective interest rate has been determined by using the estimated terms of loans to 
maturity, or repayment if earlier. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income and interest expense 
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group 
estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for 
example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation 
includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part 
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. 
 
Fee income is recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as “Fees and other income” and is generally recognised on the 
accrual basis when the service has been provided. 
 
Credit life insurance premium income is recognised at the time a policy comes in force. 
Premiums are shown net of refunds.  Policies written prior to 2017 were paid in full at 
the origination of the contract for the term of contract.  The maximum term of any 
contract is 72 months.  For these policies, the contract amount is recognised as premium 
income with an associated expense being recognised relative to life insurance fund 
liability.     Refunds on unexpired insurance contracts are allowed on early withdrawal 
using the “Rule of 78” method.  Premiums for policies written in 2017 are assessed on a 
monthly basis and are calculated on the current balance of the associated loan.  Such 
premiums are recognised when assessed. 
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Other income and expenses are recognised on the accrual basis. 
 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents  

 
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash on hand and unrestricted deposits with banks that have original maturities 
of three months or less. 
 

(f) Foreign currency translation 

 
Functional and presentation currency 

 
Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates (the 
functional currency).  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Bahamian 
dollars, which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the rates 
of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income as a part of total profit. Translation differences on monetary financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit or loss are included as a part of the fair value gains 
and losses. 
 

(g) Premises and equipment  

 
Premises and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
amortization. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of an item. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or 
are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably.  All repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as a part of net income during the 
financial period in which they are incurred. 
 
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation and amortization on other assets are computed on 
a straight-line basis, net of residual values, and are charged to non-interest expense over 
their estimated useful lives as follows: 

 
Buildings The shorter of the estimated useful life 
  or a maximum of 40 years 
Leasehold improvements The shorter of the estimated useful life or  

the lease term 
Furniture, fittings and equipment 3 - 10 years 
Site improvements 5 - 10 years 

 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each date of the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of premises and 
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. 
 

(h) Impairment of non-financial assets  

 
At each date of the consolidated statement of financial position, management reviews the 
carrying amount of non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment 
loss.  Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease to the extent that there is revaluation surplus. 
 

(i) Earnings per common share 

 
Earnings per share is computed by dividing total profit, after deducting dividends 
declared on preference shares, by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the year and not held by group companies. There is no  difference 
between basic earnings per share and fully diluted earnings per share. 
 

(j) Retirement benefit costs 

 
The Bank maintains defined benefit (“DB Provisions”) and defined contribution pension 
(“DC Provisions”) plans covering all of its employees. Assets of the plans are 
administered by and under the control of independent trustees. 

 
The Pension Committee is responsible for advising the Board of Directors in fulfilling 
its fiduciary and oversight duties for the Bank’s pension arrangements.  As a part of this 
responsibility, members of the committee review the performance of the trustees, 
administrator and investment manager in accordance with the trust deed, plan rules and 
investment policy statement, as well as providing support and making recommendations, 
as appropriate.  The Pension Committee comprises members of the Bank’s Board of 
Directors, one management employee and one non-management employee elected by the 
employees triennially. 
 
The Bank’s contributions under the defined contribution pension plan are recognised as 
staff costs in the general and administrative expenses. 
 
The Guaranteed Investment Contract (“GIC”) available through the DC Provisions 
exposes the Bank to investment risk. If the return on assets is above or below the 
guaranteed return on contributions provided to employees, it will create a surplus or 
deficit which is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as a net 
defined benefit liability or asset. 
 
The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined using the 
projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at each 
statement of financial position date. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually 
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by independent actuaries.  The asset or liability amount recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation and the current service cost at the end of the reporting period less the fair 
value of plan assets.  
 
Pension costs under the DB Provisions charged to general and administrative expenses 
include the present value of the current year service cost based on estimated final 
salaries, interest on obligations less interest on assets, and estimated administrative costs.  
Current service cost and net interest on the net defined benefit asset or liability of the 
GIC are charged to general and administrative expenses. 
 
Changes in the net defined benefit liability or asset recorded to other comprehensive 
income include actuarial gains and losses on obligations and assets arising from 
experience different than assumed and changes in assumptions. 
 

(k) Share-based payments 

 
The Bank issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain management staff.  The 
Bank determines the fair value of stock options on their grant date using the Black 
Scholes Model and records this amount as compensation expense.  The expected life 
used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the 
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral considerations.  The 
fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.  When the stock options are 
exercised the proceeds are recorded in share capital and share premium. 
 
Other Stock Based Compensation Plan  
 
The Bank offers non-management staff the option of purchasing common shares at a 
10% discount from the prevailing market rate at the time of the offer.  The amount of 
discount is recorded as compensation expense with a corresponding increase to share 
premium.  Payments by staff for the shares are credited to share capital and share 
premium. 
 

(l) Equity instruments 

 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the 
Group after deducting all of its liabilities.  Equity instruments are recorded at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.  Ordinary shares, and preference shares 
whose terms do not create contractual obligations, are classified as equity (Note 15). 
 

(m) Financial assets  

 
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of financial position, financial assets 
comprise: 

i. Cash; 

ii. An equity instrument of another entity; 

iii. A contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity, 
or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under 
conditions that are potentially favourable to the Group; 
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iv. A contract that will or may be settled in the Group’s own equity instrument and is 
either a non-derivative for which the Group is or may be obliged to receive a 
variable number of the Group’s own equity instruments, or a derivative that will or 
may be settled other than by exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another 
financial asset for a fixed number of the Bank’s own equity instruments. 

 

Classification 

 
From January 1, 2018 the Group classifies its financial assets in the following 
measurement categories:  

 

i. Amortised cost 
 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions 
are met: (a) the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is 
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and (b) the 
contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 
 
Financial assets classified at amortised cost are carried at the amount at which the 
asset was measured upon initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or 
minus the cumulative amortisation of any premium or discount, and minus any 
write-down for impairment or uncollectibility. 
 

ii. Fair value through other comprehensive income 
 
A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if 
both of the following conditions are met: (a) the financial asset is held within a 
business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets; and (b) the contractual terms of the financial 
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  
 

iii. Fair value through profit or loss 
 

A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if it is does not 
meet the criteria to be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income.  
 

The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business 
model under which the asset is held and its contractual cash flow characteristics as 
described below.   
 

• The business model assessment is performed to determine how a portfolio of 
financial instruments as a whole is managed in order to classify it as Hold to 
Collect, Hold to Collect and Sell, or Other Business Model; and 
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• Contractual cash flow characteristics test is performed to determine whether 
the financial instruments give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI). 

 
The Group reclassifies its financial assets when and only when its business model 
for managing those assets changes. 

 

Recognition and derecognition 

 
The Group initially recognises loans and advances to customers and deposits from 
customers on the date on which they are originated.  All other financial instruments, 
(including regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets) are recognised on the 
trade date, which is the date on which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. For loans and advances to 
customers, this generally occurs when either borrowers repay their obligations, or the 
loans are sold or written off. If the Group has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, an assessment is made whether the 
Group has retained control of the financial assets. 
 

Measurement 

 
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the 
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.  Transaction 
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit and loss. 
 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on the Group’s business model for 
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristic of the asset.  The three measurement 
categories are as noted above. 
 

Modification 

 

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group evaluates whether the cash flows 
of the modified asset are substantially different. 
 
If the cash flows are substantially different, the contractual rights to cash flows from the 
original asset are deemed to have expired.  In this case, the original financial asset is 
derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible 
transaction costs.  Any fees received as part of the modification are accounted for as 
follows: 

• fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees 
that represent reimbursement of the eligible transaction costs are included in the 
initial measurement of the asset; and 

• other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on 
derecognition. 
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If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulty, then the objective 
of the modification is usually to maximize recovery of the original contractual terms 
rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different terms.  If the Group plans 
to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it 
first considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the 
modification takes place.  This approach impacts the result of quantitative evaluation and 
means that the derecognition criteria are usually met in such cases. 
 

 

Accounting policies applied until December 31, 2017 

 
Financial assets were classified into the following categories: “fair value through profit 
or loss” (FVTPL); “held-to-maturity”; “available-for-sale” (AFS); and “loans and 
receivables”.  The classification depended on the nature and purpose of the financial 
assets and was determined at the time of initial recognition. 
 

i. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets were classified as FVTPL where the financial asset was either held 
for trading or was designated as FVTPL.  A financial asset was classified into the 
FVTPL category at inception if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the 
short term, if it formed part of a portfolio of financial assets in which there was 
evidence of short-term profit-taking, or if so designated by management.  Financial 
assets designated as FVTPL at inception were those that were managed and whose 
performance was evaluated on a fair value basis, and were intended to be held for an 
indefinite period of time but may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes 
in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.  Information about these financial 
assets was provided internally on a fair value basis to the Group’s Executive 
Committee. FVTPL assets were stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.  
 

ii. Available-for-sale investments 
 
AFS financial assets were those non-derivative financial assets that were either 
designated as available for sale or were not classified as a) FVTPL, b) held-to-
maturity or c) loans and receivables.  AFS assets were stated at fair value.  Cost was 
used to approximate the fair value of AFS assets.  

 

iii. Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Bills of exchange and debentures with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity dates that the Group had the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity 
were classified as held-to-maturity investments.   

 
Held-to-maturity investments were non-derivative financial assets which were carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment, with 
revenue recognised on an effective yield basis. Investment income was recorded in 
interest income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 
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iv. Loans and receivables 
 

Loans and other receivables were non-derivative financial assets that had fixed or 
determinable payments that were not quoted in an active market, and which the 
Group had no intention of trading or designating at fair value, were classified as loans 
and receivables.   
 
Loans and receivables were recognised when the Group provided goods or services 
to debtors or cash was advanced to borrowers.  Loans and receivables were 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment.  
 

(n) Impairment of financial assets  

 

Policy applicable after January 1, 2018 

 
The Group recognises loss allowance for ECL on financial assets measured at amortised 
cost and measures impairment losses at amount equal to 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL 
depending on the stage in which the asset is classified. 
 
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial asset.  12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result 
from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a 
shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). 
 
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual 
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk. 
 
Impairment of financial assets is recognised in three stages: 
 
Stage 1 – When a financial asset is originated, ECLs resulting from default events that 
are possible within the next 12 months are recognised and a loss allowance is 
established. On subsequent reporting dates, 12-month ECL also applies to existing 
financial assets with no significant increase in credit risk since their initial recognition.  
 
Stage 2 - If the credit quality subsequently significantly deteriorates for a particular 
portfolio or transaction, the Group recognises the full lifetime expected credit losses. 
 
Stage 3 - At a later date, once one or more default events have occurred on the 
transaction or on a counterparty resulting in an adverse effect on the estimated future 
cash flows, the Group recognises the full lifetime expected credit losses.    At this stage, 
the financial asset is credit-impaired. 
 
In determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial 
recognition, and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort.  This includes 
both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s 
historical experience and informed credit assessment and forward-looking information.   
 
The assessment of whether an asset is in stage 1 or 2 considers the relative change in the 
probability of default occurring over the expected life of the instrument, and is not 
assessed based on the change in the amount of the expected credit losses.  This involves 
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setting quantitative tests combined with additional indicators such as credit risk 
classification and other observable inputs.   Assets that are more than 30 days past due, 
but not credit-impaired, are classed as stage 2. 
 
Changes in credit loss, including the impact of movements between the first stage (12 
month expected credit losses) and the second stage (lifetime expected credit losses), are 
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  
 
IFRS 9 requires the use of more forward looking information including reasonable and 
supportable forecasts of future economic conditions. The requirement to consider a 
range of economic scenarios and their possible impact on impairment allowances is a 
subjective feature of the IFRS 9 ECL model. The Group continues to develop its 
capability to model a number of economic scenarios and capture the impact on credit 
losses to ensure the overall ECL represents a reasonable distribution of economic 
outcomes.  
 
The application of IFRS 9 does not alter the current definition of default currently used 
to determine whether or not there is objective evidence of impairment of a financial 
asset. 
 

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 
– The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, 

without recourse by the Group through actions such as realizing security (if any 
held);  

– The financial asset is more than 90 days past due; or  
– The borrower is on principal only repayment terms. 

 
Impairment losses for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the 
gross carrying amount of assets. 
 

Write-off of loans and advances 

 
A loan (and the related impairment allowance account) is normally written off, either 
partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery of the principal amount 
and, for a collateralised loan, when the proceeds from realising the security have been 
received.  Consumer installment and credit card loans are written-off in the month after 
principal and/or interest payments become 180 days contractually in arrears. 
 

Recovery of previously written-off loans 

 
Recoveries of principal and/or interest on previously written off loans are recognised in 
provisions for credit losses, net in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on a cash basis or when the loan is rewritten on normal terms 
prevailing at the time of the rewrite. 
 

Renegotiated loans 

 
Loans subject to impairment assessment, whose terms have been renegotiated, are 
subject to ongoing review to determine whether they remain impaired or should be 
considered past due.  The carrying amount of loans that have been classified as 
renegotiated retain this classification until maturity or derecognition. 
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Policy applicable before January 1, 2018 

 
The Group evaluated at each statement of financial position date whether there was 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets was impaired.  A 
financial asset or a group of financial assets was impaired and impairment losses were 
incurred if, and only if, there was objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that 
loss event (or events) had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or group of financial assets that could be reliably estimated. 
 
Impairment allowances were calculated on individual financial assets and on groups of 
financial assets assessed collectively.  Impairment losses were recorded as charges to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  The carrying 
amount of impaired financial assets on the consolidated statement of financial position 
was reduced through the use of impairment allowance accounts.  Losses expected from 
future events were not recognised. 
 
Losses for impaired loans and advances to customers were recognised promptly when 
there was objective evidence that impairment of a loan or portfolio of loans had 
occurred.  Whenever principal and/or interest was 90 days contractually past due on a 
loan or whenever a loan was renegotiated, such that payments were applied solely to 
principal, it was assessed as impaired. 
 
When a loan was classified as impaired, all uncollected interest and fees were provided 
for in full and the Bank discontinued accruing additional interest and fees while the loan 
was deemed impaired. 
 
Payments received on loans that had been classified as impaired were applied first to 
outstanding interest and fees and then to the remaining principal. 
 

Individually significant financial assets 

 
For all financial assets that were considered individually significant, the Group assessed 
on a case-by-case basis at each date of consolidated statement of financial position 
whether there was any objective evidence of impairment.  
 
For loans where objective evidence of impairment existed, impairment losses were 
determined considering the following factors: 
 
– the Group’s aggregate exposure to the customer; 
– the amount and timing of expected receipts and recoveries; 
– the complexity of determining the aggregate amount and ranking of all creditor 

claims and the extent to which legal and insurance uncertainties were evident; 
– the realisable value of security (or other credit mitigants) and likelihood of successful 

repossession; and 
– the likely deduction of any costs involved in recovery of amounts outstanding. 
 
Impairment losses were calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows of a 
loan (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) at its original effective 
interest rate, and comparing the resultant present value with the asset’s current carrying 
amount. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a loan 
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collateralised by real property reflected the cash flows that might have resulted from 
foreclosures less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure 
was probable. 
 
Collectively assessed loans and advances to customers 

 
Impairment was assessed on a collective basis in two circumstances: 
 
– to cover losses which had been incurred but had not yet been identified on loans 

subject to individual assessment; and 
– for homogeneous groups of loans that were not considered individually significant. 
Incurred but not yet identified impairment 

 
Individually assessed loans for which no evidence of loss had been specifically 
identified on an individual basis were grouped together according to their credit risk 
characteristics for the purpose of calculating an estimated collective loss.  This reflected 
impairment losses that the Bank had incurred as a result of events occurring before the 
reporting date, which the Bank was not able to identify on an individual loan basis, and 
that could be reliably estimated.  These losses would only be individually identified in 
the future. As soon as information became available which identified losses on 
individual loans within the group, those loans were removed from the group and 
assessed on an individual basis for impairment. 
 
The collective impairment allowance was determined after taking into account: 
 
– historical loss experience in portfolios of similar credit risk characteristics (for 

example, by industry sector, loan grade or product); 
– the estimated period between impairment occurring and the loss being identified and 

evidenced by the establishment of an appropriate allowance against the individual 
loan; and 

– management’s experienced judgment as to whether current economic and credit 
conditions were such that the actual level of inherent losses at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date was likely to be greater or less than that suggested 
by historical experience. 

 

Homogeneous groups of loans and advances 

 
Statistical methods were used to determine impairment losses on a collective basis for 
homogeneous groups of loans that were not considered individually significant because 
individual loan assessment was impracticable.  Losses in these groups of loans were 
recorded on an individual basis when individual loans were written off, at which point 
they were removed from the group. 
 
The Group applied a formulaic approach which allocated progressively higher 
percentage loss rates the longer a customer’s loan was overdue.  Loss rates were based 
on historical experience. 

 

In normal circumstances, historical experience provided the most objective and relevant 
information from which to assess inherent loss within each portfolio.  In certain 
circumstances, historical loss experience provided less relevant information about the 
inherent loss in a given portfolio at the consolidated statement of financial position date, 
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for example, where there had been changes in economic, regulatory or behavioural 
conditions, such that the most recent trends in the portfolio risk factors were not fully 
reflected in the statistical models. 
 
These additional portfolio risk factors may have included recent loan portfolio growth 
and product mix, unemployment rates, bankruptcy trends, geographic concentrations, 
loan product features, economic conditions such as trends in housing markets and 
interest rates, portfolio seasoning, account management policies and practices, current 
levels of write-offs, adjustments to the period of time between loss identification and 
write off, changes in laws and regulations and other items which could have affected 
customer payment patterns on outstanding loans, such as natural disasters.  These risk 
factors, where relevant, were taken into account when calculating the appropriate level 
of impairment allowances by adjusting the impairment allowances derived solely from 
historical loss experience. 
 
Impairment assessment methodologies were regularly benchmarked against actual 
outcomes to ensure they remain appropriate. 
 
Write-off of loans and advances 

 
A loan (and the related impairment allowance account) was normally written off, either 
partially or in full, when there was no realistic prospect of recovery of the principal 
amount and, for a collateralised loan, when the proceeds from realising the security had 
been received.  Consumer installment and credit card loans were written-off in the 
month after principal and/or interest payments became 180 days contractually in arrears. 
 

Recovery of previously written-off loans 

 
Recovery of principal and/or interest on previously written off loans were recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a cash 
basis or when the loan was rewritten on normal terms prevailing at the time of the 
rewrite. 
 

Reversals of impairment 

 
If the amount of an impairment loss decreased in a subsequent period, and the decrease 
could be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
the excess was written back by reducing the loan impairment allowance account 
accordingly.  The write-back was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Renegotiated loans 

 
Loans subject to collective impairment assessment whose terms had been renegotiated 
were no longer considered past due, but were treated as up to date loans for 
measurement purposes once the minimum number of payments required under the new 
arrangements had been received.  Loans subject to individual impairment assessment, 
whose terms had been renegotiated, were subject to ongoing review to determine 
whether they remained impaired or should be considered past due.  The carrying amount 
of loans that had been classified as renegotiated retained this classification until maturity 
or derecognition. 
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(o) Financial liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities are any liabilities that are: 
 

i. Contractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset to another 
entity or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity 
under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group; 

ii. Contracts that will or may be settled in the Group’s own equity instruments and 
are either a non-derivative for which the Group is or may be obliged to deliver a 
variable number of its own equity instruments, or a derivative that will or may be 
settled either by exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for 
a fixed number of the Group’s own equity instruments. 

 
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and 
measurement of liabilities.  As such, the Group’s policy for accounting of financial 
liabilities from the prior period is unchanged. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as either a) FVTPL or b) other financial liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL where the financial liability is either held for 
trading or it is designated as FVTPL.  Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair 
value with any resulting gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method with 
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 
 
The Group’s financial liabilities comprise deposits accepted from customers, life 
insurance fund liability, and other liabilities. Financial liabilities (or parts thereof) are 
derecognised when the liability has been extinguished and the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled, or expires.  
 

(p) Offsetting financial instruments 

 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.  The legally enforceable right must not be 
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business 
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty. 
 

(q) Related party 

 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group and includes:  
 

i. A person or close member of that person’s family who 
a. has control or joint control of the Group 
b. has significant influence over the Group; or 
c. is a member of the Group’s key management personnel, including 

directors. 
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ii. An entity that is related to the Group as follows: 

a. An entity that is a member of the same group as the Group; 
b. An entity that is associated with, or is a joint venture partner with the 

Group; 
c. An entity that is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of 

employees of the Group; 
d. An entity that has the ability to control or exercise significant influence 

over the Group in making financial or operational decisions; and  
e. An entity that is jointly controlled or significantly influenced by parties 

described in i) and ii) above.   
 
Transactions with related parties are disclosed in Note 21. 
 

(r) Leases  

 
All of the Group’s leases are operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognised 
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
 

(s) Taxation 

 
Life insurance premium tax is incurred at the rate of 3% of premiums written by the 
Group’s insurance company, and recognised as an expense on an accrual basis in general 
and administrative expenses. 
 
The Group is required to pay value added tax (VAT) at a rate of 12% on goods and 
services as prescribed by the Value Added Tax Act.  Effective July 1, 2018 VAT was 
increased from 7.5% to 12%.  The Group also pays business licence fees in accordance 
with the Business Licence Act.   
 
Outside of business licence fees, there are no income, capital gains or other corporate 
taxes imposed.  The Group’s operations do not subject it to taxation in any other 
jurisdiction. 
 

(t) Rounding of amounts 

 
All amounts disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and notes have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated. 
 

(u) Corresponding figures 

 
Corresponding figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation adopted 
in the current year as follows: 

 
i. Credit life insurance, net has been disaggregated with income amounts 

remaining in total income and the expense items being reclassed to non-
interest expenses. 

 
ii. Late fees on loans and advances to customers have been reclassed from 

interest income to other income. 
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iii. Certain corresponding figures have also been adjusted to account for the 
correction of the accounting error disclosed in Note 25. 

 

iv. Entities in which certain key management personnel had ownership or for 
which they were directors were previously disclosed in related party amounts 
for key management personnel.  Such amounts are now disclosed in amounts 
for other related parties.  

 
 

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY 
 
The following are critical estimates and key judgments that management has made in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. 
 

Critical estimates 

 

(a) Loan impairment allowances  

 

The allowance for loan impairment represents management’s estimate of an asset’s 
expected credit loss (“ECL”).   
 
The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets is an area that requires the 
use of complex models and significant assumptions about the future economic 
conditions and credit behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the 
resulting losses).   
ECL is defined as the weighted expected probable value of the discounted credit loss 
(principal and interest) determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes and 
future economic conditions. It represents the present value of the difference between the 
contractual cash flows and the expected cash flows (including principal and interest). 
 
The process for determining the allowance involves significant quantitative and 
qualitative assessments.  Particularly, a number of significant judgments is also required 
in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as: 
 

i. Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 

ii. Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 

iii. Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios 
for each type of product/market and the associated ECL; 

iv. Assessing the risk rating and impaired status of loans;  

v. Estimating cash flows and realisable collateral values;  

vi. Developing default and loss rates based on historical data;  

vii. Estimating the impact on this historical data by changes in policies, processes 
and credit strategies;  

viii. Assessing the current credit quality based on credit quality trends; and  

ix. Determining the current position in the economic cycle.   
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Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring 
ECL is further detailed in Note 24. 
 

(b) Pension benefits  

 
The Bank maintains a defined benefit plan as outlined in Note 2 (j).  Due to the long 
term nature of pension plans, the calculation of benefit expenses and obligations depends 
on various assumptions such as discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, 
projected salary increases, retirement age, mortality, and termination rates. Any 
difference between the actual experiences and actuarial assumptions will affect the 
benefit obligation and expense.   
 

(c) Life insurance fund liability 

 
Laurentide Insurance and Mortgage Company Limited (“Laurentide”) calculates its 
actuarial liabilities for individual life insurance policies using the Canadian Policy 
Premium Method (“PPM”).  The calculation of these policy reserves is based on 
assumptions as to future rates for mortality and morbidity, investment yields, policy 
lapse and expenses, which contain margins for adverse deviations.  Changes in the 
liability are estimated with the assistance of an independent actuary and charged to profit 
or loss. 
 

Key judgments 

 

(d) Fair value of financial instruments  

 

IFRS 13 requires that the classification of financial instruments at fair value be 
determined by reference to the source of inputs used to derive the fair value. This 
classification uses the following three-level hierarchy: 
 
Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

that the entity can access at the measurement date. 
 
Level 2 Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as 

prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). This category includes 
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar 
instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets 
that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all 
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 

 
Level 3 Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category 

includes all instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not 
based on observable data and unobservable inputs have a significant effect 
on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are 
valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant 
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences 
between the instruments. 

 
 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, 
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  The best 
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evidence of fair value is quoted price in an active market.  In most cases, however, the 
Group’s financial instruments are not typically exchangeable or exchanged and therefore 
management applies judgement to determine their fair value.   
 
 
The following methods and assumptions have been used in determining fair value:  
 

– Investments – The estimated fair value of the Group’s investments was 
determined based on their market values and other observable inputs and are 
disclosed in Note 8.   

 
– Loans and advances to customers - The estimated fair value of loans and 

advances to customers, was determined by valuing the receivables based on 
current market interest rates relative to the Group’s interest rates.  Fair values 
relative to loans and advances to customers are disclosed in Note 9. 

 
– Deposits from customers - The estimated fair value of deposits from customers 

was determined by valuing the deposits based on current market interest rates 
relative to the Group’s interest rates.  The fair values of deposit from customers 
approximate their carrying values. 

 
– Other financial instruments - Due to their short-term maturity, the carrying 

values of these financial instruments approximate their fair values.  
 
All of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are valued as Level 2 instruments.     
 
No transfers were made during the period for any investments within the hierarchy. 
 
Since the calculation of fair value is based on management’s estimates, which involve 
uncertainties, the actual fair value realised in a sale or immediate settlement of the 
instruments may differ from the estimated amount. 
 
 

4. SUBSIDIARIES 
 

The Group has interests in the following entities: 
 

Name

Country of 

Incorporation Shareholding

Laurentide Insurance and Mortgage Company Limited (“Laurentide”) Bahamas 100%
C. B. Holding Co. Ltd. Bahamas 100%

C.B. Securities Ltd. Bahamas 100%

Laurentide Insurance Agency Limited Bahamas 100%
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Following are the carrying amounts of significant financial assets and financial liabilities as 
defined by IFRS 9 Financial Instruments for 2018 and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement for 2017. 
 

Fair Vaue Other

Amortised Through Financial 

Cost Profit & Loss Liabilities Total

FINANCIAL ASSETS

   Cash and deposits with banks 34,010$             -$                        -$                       34,010$            

   Balances with The Central Bank of The Bahamas 147,772$           -$                        -$                       147,772$          

   Investments 453,424$           4,148$                 -$                       457,572$          

   Loans and advances to customers 992,418$           -$                        -$                       992,418$          

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

   Deposits from customers -$                       -$                        1,311,244$         1,311,244$       

2018

 
 

Fair Vaue Other

Loans and Held-To- Through Financial 

Receivables Maturity Profit & Loss Liabilities Total

FINANCIAL ASSETS

   Cash and deposits with banks 30,611$             -$                        -$                       -$                      30,611$           

   Balances with The Central Bank of The Bahamas 98,288$             -$                        -$                       -$                      98,288$           

   Investments -$                       401,513$             3,328$                -$                      404,841$         

   Loans and advances to customers 1,053,969$        -$                        -$                       -$                      1,053,969$      

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

   Deposits from customers -$                       -$                        -$                       1,274,262$       1,274,262$      

2017
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The following table shows consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income information on financial instruments: 

 

2018 2017

Interest income, effective interest rate method

   Loans and advances to customers 137,700$     152,128$       

   Investments 16,277         14,619           

   Other 1                  13                  

153,978$     166,760$       

Interest expense

   Deposits from customers 19,505$       24,837$         

Fees and other income

   Loans and advances to customers 6,818$         6,885$           

   Investments 864$            1,110$           

   Deposits from customers 8,982$         7,261$           

 
 

6. BUSINESS SEGMENTS 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
Executive Committee which is responsible for allocating resources to the reportable segments and 

assessing their performance. The Group has five operating segments which are organised based 
on nature of the products and services provided by each segment.   
 

i. Retail banking – the provision of full service personal banking including the 
acceptance of savings, fixed and demand deposits, providing consumer financing 
through loans, overdrafts and credit cards and mortgage financing on real estate and the 
sale of foreign exchange. 

 
ii. Credit life insurance – the provision of credit life insurance in respect of the Bank’s 

borrowers through Laurentide. 
 
iii. Real estate holdings - ownership and management of real property which is rented to 

branches and departments of the Bank through C.B. Holding Co. Ltd. 
 
iv. Investment holdings – holdings of investments in the Bank’s common shares through 

C.B. Securities Ltd.  
 
v. Insurance agency operations – provision of insurance agency services to the Group’s 

insurance company, its sole client through Laurentide Insurance Agency Limited. 
 
The entities within the Group operate within the same geographical area.  Non-Bahamian 
dollar assets and liabilities are not material and are therefore not divided out into a separate 
segment.  Inter-segment revenues are charged at competitive market prices.  Inter-segment 
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expenses are transferred at cost.  All transactions between segments are eliminated on 
consolidation.  
 
There are no other operations that constitute separate reportable segments.  The segment 
operations are all financial and principal revenues are derived from interest and fee income.  
No single customer contributed 10% or more of the Group’s total income for the periods 
covered in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The following table shows financial information by business segment: 
 

Credit Real Insurance

Retail Life Estate Investment Agency

Bank Company Holdings Holdings Operations Eliminations Consolidated

Income

External 149,387$           4,174$             20$                 -$                    -$                     -$                     153,581$         

   Internal 3,975                 (121)                3,816              (641)                480                   (7,509)              -                       

Total Income 153,362$           4,053$             3,836$            (641)$              480$                 (7,509)$            153,581$         

Total profit 

Internal & external 49,231$             4,116$             1,457$            (1,055)$           269$                 (2,079)$            51,939$           

Assets 1,658,709$        44,792$           29,403$          18,723$          2,985$              (59,385)$          1,695,227$      

Liabilities 1,334,697$        3,008$             16,518$          11,074$          5$                     (35,593)$          1,329,708$      

Other Information

Interest expense 19,884$            -$                   691$              389$              -$                    (1,459)$           19,505$          

Capital additions 5,113$              -$                   820$              -$                   -$                    -$                    5,933$            

Depreciation and amortization 2,517$              -$                   640$              -$                   -$                    -$                    3,157$            

Credit Real Insurance

Retail Life Estate Investment Agency

Bank Company Holdings Holdings Operations Eliminations Consolidated

Income

External 155,423$           (1,254)$           5$                   -$                    -$                     -$                     154,174$         

   Internal 4,092                 124                  3,979              5,033              359                   (13,587)            -                       

Total Income 159,515$           (1,130)$           3,984$            5,033$            359$                 (13,587)$          154,174$         

Total profit 

Internal & external 48,473$             4,435$             1,351$            4,667$            181$                 (7,973)$            51,134$           

Assets 1,610,536$        46,076$           29,746$          17,361$          2,720$              (55,901)$          1,650,538$      

Liabilities 1,298,156$        5,678$             18,317$          8,656$            9$                     (35,964)$          1,294,852$      

Other Information

Interest expense 25,321$            -$                   788$              344$              -$                    (1,616)$           24,837$          

Capital additions 2,173$              -$                   17$                -$                   -$                    -$                    2,190$            

Depreciation and amortization 2,707$              -$                   632$              -$                   -$                    -$                    3,339$            

2017

2018
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7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

2018 2017

Cash on hand 17,954$       18,511$       

Deposits with banks 16,056         12,100         

Balances with The Central Bank of The Bahamas 147,772       98,288         

181,782       128,899       

Minimum reserve requirement (54,258)       (49,748)       

Time deposit securing letter of credit (2,313)         (1,942)         

Cash and cash equivalents 125,211$     77,209$       
 

 
The minimum reserve requirement comprises deposits placed with the Central Bank of The 
Bahamas (‘the Central Bank’) to meet statutory requirements of the Bank’s licences and are 
not available for use in the Bank’s day to day operations. As such, these amounts are excluded 
from balances held with the Central Bank to arrive at cash and cash equivalents. All balances 
with the Central Bank are non-interest bearing.  Cash and deposit balances disclosed above are 
recoverable within one year and are classified as current assets. 
 

8. INVESTMENTS 
 
Investments are as follows: 
 

Amount Maturity years Interest rates

Bahamas Government 428,898$           2019-2037 1.80% - 4.88%

Government related 18,285               2023-2035 4.25% - 7.00%

United States Government 1,000                 2023-2024 6.25% - 7.50%

Equity 4,357                 

Accrued interest receivable 5,032                 

Total investment securities 457,572$           

Amount Maturity years Interest rates

Bahamas Government 377,218$           2018-2037 1.80% - 4.88%

Government related 18,303               2023-2035 4.25% - 7.00%

United States Government 1,000                 2023-2024 6.25% - 7.50%

Equity - Restated (See Note 25) 3,526                 

Accrued interest receivable 4,794                 

Total investment securities 404,841$           

2018

2017 (Restated)

 
 
 
 



 

36 
 

Amount Maturity years Interest rates

Bahamas Government 283,314$           2017-2037 1.95% - 5.38%

Government related 18,321               2023-2035 4.75% - 7.00%

United States Government 1,000                 2023-2024 6.25% - 7.50%

Equity - Restated (See Note 25) 2,452                 

Accrued interest receivable 4,615                 

Total investment securities 309,702$           $                             

Investments categorized by maturity are as follows:

2018

2017 

(Restated)

January 1, 2017 

(Restated)

Current (due within one year) 130,149             77,492              37,242                    

Non-current (due after one year) 327,423             327,349            272,460                  

457,572$           404,841$          309,702$                

January 1, 2017 (Restated)

 
Government and government related investments comprise the majority of the Group’s 
investments.  There is not a very active market for these investments.  Primary brokers of these 
types of instruments trade similar instruments at par value.  Accordingly, management 
determined that their fair values approximate their carrying values.   

 
The Group’s common share holdings in Mastercard Incorporated account for the majority of its 
equity investments.  These shares are carried at fair value with any resultant gains or losses 
being recorded in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive 
income. 
 

9. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 
 
Loans and advances to customers are as follows: 

2018 2017

Residential mortgage 200,756$       211,222$    

Business 29,613           31,283        

Personal 777,517         840,370      

Credit card 36,847           38,294        

Government 22,500           10,000        

1,067,233      1,131,169   

Less: Impairment allowances (74,815)          (77,200)       

992,418$       1,053,969$ 
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Loans categorized by maturity are as follows:

Current (due within one year) 53,063$         54,724$      

Non-current (due after one year) 939,355         999,245      
992,418$       1,053,969$ 

 
Included within the carrying amount of gross loans and advances to customers are accrued interest,  
late fees and VAT receivable amounting to $15.3 million (2017: $16.9 million), and effective 
interest rate adjustments of $5.9 million (2017: $7.9 million), the latter principally comprising 
deferred fees and other direct costs incurred to originate loans. 
 
The fair value of loans and advances to customers as determined by management is $1.08 billion 
(2017: $ 1.1 million). 
 

 

Movement in Impairment Allowances: 

 

Balance at IFRS 9 Balance at

Beginning Transition Loans Impairment End of

of Year Adjustment Written off Recoveries Losses Year

Residential mortgage 22,035$     (2,535)$      (723)$        41               (814)           18,004       

Business 1,728         (347)           (9)              -                  (20)             1,352         

Personal 49,845       3,564         (40,000)     12,054        28,149       53,612       

Credit card 3,592         (567)           (2,126)       570             378            1,847         

Total 77,200$     115$          (42,858)$   12,665$      27,693$     74,815$     

2018
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Balance at Balance at

Beginning Loans Impairment End of

of Year Written off Recoveries Losses Year

Individually Assessed

Residential mortgage 8,358$       (538)$         -$              (1,520)$       6,300$       

Business 460            -                 -                238             698            

  Total Individually Assessed 8,818         (538)           -                (1,282)         6,998         

Collectively Assessed

Residential mortgage 15,492       (2,611)        20             2,834          15,735       

Business 762            (33)             -                301             1,030         

Personal 46,184       (40,565)      11,993      32,233        49,845       

Credit card 1,908         (1,192)        349           2,527          3,592         

  Total Collectively Assessed 64,346       (44,401)      12,362      37,895        70,202       

Total Impairment Allowances 73,164$     (44,939)$    12,362$    36,613$      77,200$     

Impairment Allowance

Individually Assessed 8,818$       (538)$         -$              (1,282)$       6,998$       

Collectively Assessed 36,595       (44,401)      12,362      40,794        45,350       

45,413       (44,939)      12,362      39,512        52,348       

Incurred but not yet identified 27,751       -                 -                (2,899)         24,852       

Total Allowances 73,164$     (44,939)$    12,362$    36,613$      77,200$     

2017

 
 
 

10. OTHER ASSETS 
 

The composition of other assets is as follows: 
 

2018 2017
Pension asset 11,674$            11,874$          

Prepaid expenses 2,920                5,571              

Other 1,367                566                 

15,961$            18,011$          
 

 
The pension asset comprises the surplus amount in the Guaranteed Investment Contract and the 
pension asset relative to the defined benefit plan.  
 
The net pension asset is classified as non-current. All other assets are expected to be recovered 
within one year and are classified as current. 
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11. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT 
 
The movement of premises and equipment which is a non-current asset is as follows: 
 

Furniture,

Fittings

Land/Site Leasehold and

Improvements Buildings Improvements Equipment Total

Cost

December 31, 2016 14,466$           35,899$  944$                 28,970$     80,279$    

Additions 9             21                     2,160         2,190        

Disposals -                       -              -                        (358)           (358)         

December 31, 2017 14,466             35,908    965                   30,772       82,111      

Additions 773         17                     5,143         5,933        

Disposals -                       -              -                        (529)           (529)         

December 31, 2018 14,466             36,681    982                   35,386       87,515      

Accumulated

   Depreciation

   and Amortization

December 31, 2016 485                  10,530    836                   22,414       34,265      

Charge for the year 76                    867         20                     2,376         3,339        

Disposals -                       -              -                        (311)           (311)         

December 31, 2017 561                  11,397    856                   24,479       37,293      

Charge for the year 72                    874         20                     2,191         3,157        

Disposals -                       -              -                        (429)           (429)         

December 31, 2018 633                  12,271    876                   26,241       40,021      

Net Book Value

December 31, 2018 13,833$           24,410$  106$                 9,145$       47,494$    

December 31, 2017 13,905$           24,511$  109$                 6,293$       44,818$    
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12. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS 
 
The composition of deposits from customers is as follows: 

2018 2017

Demand deposits 177,085$     156,421$     

Savings accounts 341,573       284,623       

Certificates of deposit 792,586       833,218       

1,311,244$  1,274,262$  

Deposits from customers categorized by maturity are as follows:

Current (due within one year) 844,082$     877,061$     

Non-current (due after one year) 467,162       397,201       

1,311,244$  1,274,262$  

 
Management has determined that the fair value of deposits from customers approximates their 
carrying values. 
 
Included in deposits from customers is accrued interest payable to customers totaling $22.6 million 
(2017: $22.2 million). 

 

13. LIFE INSURANCE FUND LIABILITY 
 
The Group provides credit life insurance in respect of certain of its borrowers through 
Laurentide. 
 
The life insurance fund liability in respect of credit life insurance contracts is calculated as:  

 

i. The sum of the present value of expected future death claims, withdrawal claims and 
administrative expenses for single premium contracts, and  

ii. The sum of the present value of expected future death claims, withdrawal claims, 
commissions and administrative expenses, less expected future monthly premiums, for 
monthly premium contracts. 

  
An actuarial valuation of the life insurance fund liability was conducted as at December 31, 
2018 by Oliver Wyman of Toronto, Canada.  The valuation included a provision of $339 
thousand (2017: $224 thousand) for claims incurred but not yet reported. 
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The movement in the life insurance fund liability is as follows: 

2018 2017

Balance at beginning of the year 5,599$        13,268$      

Change in assumptions (2) 12

Termination policies (1,653) (5,507)

Impact of aging (1,173) (2,433)

Change in IBNR 114 120

New business 18 17

Change in unearned premium reserve 48               122             

Net change in insurance reserve (2,648)         (7,669)         

Balance at end of the year 2,951$        5,599$        
 

 

Balances at the end of the year are expected to be settled as follows:

Current (within one year) 1,328$        3,187$        

Non-current (after one year) 1,623          2,412          

2,951$        5,599$        
 

Actuarial Assumption Sensitivities 

 
The table below provides the impact of a 10% change in assumptions on mortality rates, policy 
lapse rates, loan interest rates, expenses and inflation: 
 

B$ %

Mortality Loan Expense Initial Ultimate Total Increase Increase

per Lapse Interest per Inflation Interest Interest Reserve over over

Scenario $1,000 Rate Rate Policy Rate Rate Rate (B$) Base Base

Base 2018 4.5 54% 15.50% $13.86 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 2,443        

Lower Interest Rate 4.5 54% 15.50% $13.86 3.30% 3.11% 2.93% 2,451        8             0.3%

Mortality = 4.95 5.0 54% 15.50% $13.86 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 2,532        90           3.7%

Lapse = 59.40% 4.5 59% 15.50% $13.86 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 2,446        3             0.1%

Loan Interest = 17.05% 4.5 54% 17.05% $13.86 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 2,447        5             0.2%

Expenses = 15.25 4.5 54% 15.50% $15.25 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 2,470        27           1.1%

Inflation = 3.63% 4.5 54% 15.50% $13.86 3.63% 3.45% 3.25% 2,444        2             0.1%

2018

 

B$ %

Mortality Loan Expense Initial Ultimate Total Increase Increase

per Lapse Interest per Inflation Interest Interest Reserve over over

Scenario $1,000 Rate Rate Policy Rate Rate Rate (B$) Base Base

Base 2017 4.5 54% 15.50% $13.86 3.30% 3.40% 3.25% 5,253        

Lower Interest Rate 4.5 54% 15.50% $13.86 3.30% 3.06% 2.93% 5,268        15           0.3%

Mortality = 4.95 5.0 54% 15.50% $13.86 3.30% 3.40% 3.25% 5,381        128         2.4%

Lapse = 59.40% 4.5 59% 15.50% $13.86 3.30% 3.40% 3.25% 5,342        89           1.7%

Loan Interest = 17.05% 4.5 54% 17.05% $13.86 3.30% 3.40% 3.25% 5,259        6             0.1%

Expenses = 15.25 4.5 54% 15.50% $15.25 3.30% 3.40% 3.25% 5,287        34           0.7%

Inflation = 3.63% 4.5 54% 15.50% $13.86 3.63% 3.40% 3.25% 5,255        2             0.0%

2017
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14. OTHER LIABILITIES 
 

The composition of other liabilities, classified as current liabilities, is as follows: 
 

2018 2017

Accruals and accounts payable 6,249$              4,990$            

Cashier's cheques outstanding 3,703                4,172              

Employee related 2,641                3,211              

Other 2,920                2,618              

15,513$            14,991$          
 

 
 
15. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

Preference Shares: 

Rate Par $

Class E Prime + 1.5% 100             45,000       

Class F Prime + 1.5% 100             10,000       

Class G Prime + 1.5% 100             10,000       

Class H Prime + 1.5% 100             10,000       

Class I Prime + 1.5% 100             10,000       

Class J Prime + 1.5% 100             10,000       

Class K Prime + 1.5% 100             10,000       

Class L Prime + 1.5% 100             10,000       

Class M Prime + 1.5% 100             10,000       

Class N Prime + 1.5% 100             10,000       

135,000$   

Authorised

 
 
There were no changes to the authorised preference share capital during 2018 and 2017. 
 

Beginning End

of year Redemptions Conversion of Year

Class E 32,614$     -$                     -$                32,614$        

Class J 9,924         -                       -                  9,924            

Class K 9,999         -                       -                  9,999            

Class L 9,987         -                       -                  9,987            

Class M 8,974         -                       -                  8,974            

Class N 10,000       -                       -                  10,000          

81,498$     -$                     -$                81,498$        

Outstanding

2018
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Beginning End

of year Redemptions Conversion of Year

Class E 32,614       -$                     -                  32,614          

Class J 9,924         -                       -                  9,924            

Class K 9,999         -                       -                  9,999            

Class L 9,987         -                       -                  9,987            

Class M 8,974         -                       -                  8,974            

Class N 10,000       -                       -                  10,000          

81,498$     -$                     -$                81,498$        

2017

Outstanding

 
 
All classes are non-cumulative, non-voting with no maturity and require that the shares must 
have been issued for at least five years and that the approval of The Central Bank must be 
obtained prior to redemption. Of the amounts outstanding, $48.9 million of the shares qualified 
for redemption in 2018 with the balance qualifying for redemption in 2019.  Redemption is 
solely at the option of the Group. 
 
For all classes dividend rates are variable with Bahamian Prime Rate.  In 2018, Bahamian 
Prime Rate was 4.25% (2017: 4.25%). 
 
Note 26 discloses a subsequent event relative to the Group’s preference shares. 
 

Common Shares: 

 

2018 2017

Authorised:

675,000,000 (2017: 675,000,000) shares of $0.00667 per share 4,500$       4,500$     

Issued and fully paid:

295,268,556 (2017: 295,268,556) shares of $0.00667 per share 1,968$       1,968$     

Share premium 27,011       27,011     

Less: 3,806,184 (2017: 3,306,609) shares held in treasury (9,838)        (7,838)      

Total 19,141$     21,141$   

Share capital 1,943$       1,946$     

Share premium 17,198       19,195     

19,141$     21,141$   

 
The holdings of treasury shares are to fund the Group’s stock based compensation plans and 
inject liquidity into the local market. 
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Share capital on the statement of financial position is comprised of the following: 
 

2018 2017

Common shares 1,943$             1,946$              

Preference shares 81,498             81,498              

83,441$           83,444$            
 

 
During the year the Group repurchased some of its common shares through its subsidiary, C.B. 
Securities.  Details of the purchases are disclosed in Note 21. 
 
During the year the Group paid quarterly common share dividends of $0.02 (2017: $0.02) per 
share and two (2017: two) extraordinary dividend payments in February and November of 
$0.02 (2017: $0.02) per share.  These payments totaled $35 million (2017: $35 million) in 
common share dividend payments.  
 
On October 12, 2017 the Bank’s common shares split three-for-one as approved by a majority 
vote of shareholders on May 31, 2017.  As a result of the split, shareholders of record as of 
September 29, 2017 received two additional shares for each share held on the record date.  
 

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

2018 2017

Total profit 51,939$     51,134$     

Preference share dividends (4,692)       (4,692)       

Total profit available to common shareholders 47,247$     46,442$     

Weighted average number of common shares (in thousands) 291,546     292,014     

Earnings per share (expressed in dollars) 0.16$         0.16$         
 

 

17. GENERAL RESERVE 
 
The general reserve is non-distributable and was created with a $10 million allocation from 
retained earnings in 2003 to allow the Bank to address unusual issues or distress situations 
should they occur.  In 2007, the Bank increased the general reserve by $0.5 million to further 
allow for the potential impact of hurricanes. 
 
 

18. EMPLOYEE SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLANS 
 

Stock Option Plan 
 

On May 16, 2007, the shareholders approved an employee stock option plan (the “Plan”) of 2 
million shares for designated officers and management staff.  The number of shares included in 
the plan is amended each time there is a stock split (Note 15).  Currently, there are 18 million 
shares approved under the plan.  
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The main details of the plan are as follows: 
 
a. Options will be granted annually to participants at the prevailing market price on the 

date of the grant. 

b. Options vest on a straight-line basis over a three year period. 

c. Vested options expire one year after the date of vesting. 

d. Options may only be exercised while in the employment of the Bank or subsidiary or 
affiliated companies unless otherwise approved by the Board. 

e. Exercised options are subject to a six month restriction period before they can be 
transferred by the participant. 

f. Unless otherwise terminated by the Board, the Plan shall continue until the pool of 
common shares has been exhausted. 

 
The Plan is being funded by CB Securities Ltd. purchasing shares from the market in advance 
of the options being exercised.  The Bank recognised expenses of $Nil (2017: $Nil) related to 
this equity settled share based payment plan during the year. 
 

Other share based payment plan 

 
Under the Bank’s employee share purchase plan, non-management staff may purchase the 
Bank’s shares at 90% of the closing market price on the date of grant for a restricted period 
each year.  Employees’ ability to purchase shares is restricted to a percentage of their salary 
according to their position.  Shares so purchased vest immediately but are released to the 
employee on payment for the shares.  No shares were made available under this plan in 2018 
(2017: Nil shares). 
 
There were no shares outstanding to be exercised under the stock option plans as at December 
31, 2018 (2017: Nil).  Options available to be granted under the plans totaled 14,034,000 
(2017: 14,034,000).   
 

19. FEES AND OTHER INCOME 
 
Fees and other income derived from contracts with customers are as follows: 
 
 

2018 2017

Loan and credit card fees, excluding commitment and origination fees 6,601$            6,790$           

Deposit account fees 4,238              3,936             

Debit card fees 1,593              637                

Foreign exchange 2,293              1,841             

Other 1,140              996                

15,865$          14,200$         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

46 
 

20. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 
General and administrative expenses is as follows: 

2018 2017

Staff costs 39,623$       37,822$       

Licences and taxes (including premium taxes) 9,662           9,375           

Professional and service fees 8,518           7,729           

Occupancy 4,252           4,828           

Advertising 2,221           2,448           

Other 6,802           6,679           

71,078$       68,881$       

 
Staff costs include pension costs of $2.0 million (2017: $2.2 million) of which $0.3 million 
(2017: $0.6 million) relates to the DB Provisions (see Note 22). 
 

21. RELATED PARTIES’ BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS 
 
The following table shows balances and transactions with related parties not disclosed 
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements: 

 

 

Key Other Key Other

Management Related Management Related

Personnel Parties Total Personnel Parties Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Loans and advances to customers 3,356            814         4,170      3,697            2,302      5,999      

Deposits from customers 34,991          259,521  294,512  34,243          242,832  277,075  

Other liabilities 107         107         255         255         

Interest income 169               53           222         190               163         353         

Interest expense 868               6,918      7,786      987               7,404      8,391      

General and administrative expense 773         773         810         810         

Commitments under revolving credit lines 1,074            4,717      5,791      882               4,470      5,352      

2018 2017

 
Amounts included in loans and advances to customers that relate to residential mortgages and 
business loans are secured. Amounts related to personal loans and credit cards are unsecured.  
Impairment allowances in respect of these balances are not material.  
 
As at December 31, 2018 a total of 83,829,799 (2017: 84,360,141) common shares and 
130,654 (2017:120,254) preference shares were held by key management personnel. 
 

Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

 
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management personnel, those 
persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Bank, in addition to Directors’ fees disclosed on the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income is as follows: 
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2018 2017

Short term benefits 7,111$    6,758$    

Post employment benefits 863         471         

7,974$    7,229$    
 
 

Purchase of Shares by Subsidiary 

 

During the year, the Bank purchased 499,575 of its common shares for $2 million (2017: 
93,654 shares for $0.3 million) through its wholly-owned subsidiary C.B. Securities.  At 
December 31, 2018, 3,806,184 (2017: 3,306,609) shares were held by the subsidiary with a 
market value of $17.2 million.  (2017: $16.3 million). 
 
As at December 31, 2018, C.B. Securities held $110,000 (2017:$110,000) of the Bank’s 
preference shares.  The market value of these shares approximate their carrying value.  
There were no purchases of preference shares during the year (2017: Nil). 

 
22. BANK PENSION SCHEME 

 
The pension plan is divided into two parts – the Defined Benefit Provisions (“DB Provisions”) 
and the Defined Contribution Provisions (“DC Provisions”).   

 

DB Provisions 

 
The DB Provisions which is closed to new members provides pensions based on years of 
service, contributions and weighted average earnings at retirement.  The Bank’s funding policy 
is to make monthly contributions to the DB Provisions based on triennial valuations.  The 
Bank pays on demand to the DB Provisions such periodic contributions as may be required to 
meet the obligations of the DB Provisions. 
 
Eligibility in the DB Provisions includes all employees in active employment of the Bank who 
have at least 3 years of service or have reached the age of 25 and who met the eligibility 
requirements of the DB Provisions prior to October 1, 2013, the date on which entry to the DB 
Provisions was closed to all employees.  
 
The DB Provisions typically expose the Bank to actuarial risks as follows: 
 
i. Investment risk:  Currently the DB Provisions has a balanced investment in Bahamian 

Government (and Government-related) securities and private securities.  The present 
value of the DB Provisions liability is calculated using a discount rate of 1% (2017: 
0.75%) above Bahamian Prime Rate of 4.25% (2017: 4.25%) (Note 20).  If the return 
on assets is below this rate, it will create a deficit. 

ii. Interest risk:  A decrease in the Bahamian Prime Rate will increase the DB Provisions 
liability. 

iii. Longevity risk:  The present value of the DB Provisions liability is calculated by 
reference to the best estimate of the mortality of participants both during and after their 
employment.  An increase in the life expectancy of the DB Provisions participants will 
increase the DB Provisions’ liability. 
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iv. Salary risk:  The present value of the DB Provisions liability is calculated by reference 
to the future salaries of participants.  As such, an increase in the salary of the 
participants will increase the DB Provisions’ liability. 

 
Actuarial work on the DB Provisions was undertaken by Mercer (Canada) Limited, Toronto, 
Canada as at December 31, 2018. 
 
The following tables present information related to the Bank’s DB Provisions of the pension 
plan, including amounts recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
components of net periodic benefit cost: 

2018 2017

Change in fair value of plan assets:

   Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 29,037$      25,901$      

   Interest income 1,447          1,160          

   Actual return on plan assets (888)            2,472          

   Administrative costs (81)              (80)              

   Employer contributions 447             511             

   Participant contributions 79               92               

   Benefits paid (749)            (626)            

   Withdrawals from plan (459)            (393)            

   Settlement payments -                  -                  

   Fair value of plan assets at end of year 28,833$      29,037$      

 

Change in defined benefit obligation:

   Benefit obligation at beginning of year 25,582$      26,953$      

   Current employer service costs 433             459             

   Participant contributions 79               92               

   Interest cost 1,262          1,197          

   Withdrawals from plan (459)            (393)            

   Benefits paid (749)            (626)            

   Experience adjustment (91)              -                  

   Settlement payments -                  -                  

   Changes in financial assumptions (1,851)         (2,100)         

   Benefit obligation at end of year 24,206$      25,582$      

   Benefit obligation at end of year 24,206$      25,582$      

   Fair value of plan assets at end of year (28,833)       (29,037)       

   Net defined benefit (asset) liability (4,627)$       (3,455)$       
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2018 2017

Net defined benefit (asset)  liability:

   Balance at beginning of year (3,455)$       1,052$        

   Defined benefit included in profit or loss 348             646             

   Remeasurement included in other comprehensive income (1,073)         (4,642)         

   Employer contributions (447)            (511)            

  Balance at end of year (4,627)$       (3,455)$       

Components of defined benefit cost:

   Current employer service costs 433$           459$           

   Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 1,262          1,197          

   Interest income on plan assets (1,447)         (1,160)         

   Administrative costs 100             150             

   Pension benefit expense included in staff costs 348$           646$           

2018 2017

Components of remeasurements:

   Changes in financial assumptions (1,851)$       (2,100)$       

   Experience adjustments (91)              -                  

   Return on plan assets excluding interest income 869             (2,542)         

   Remeasurements included in other comprehensive income (1,073)$       (4,642)$       

Weighted-average assumptions to determine defined benefit obligations:

   Discount rate 5.25% 5.00%

   Rate of pension increases 1.00% 1.00%

   Rate of increase in future compensation 3.50% 3.50%

   Mortality Table

UP 1994 Fully 

generational

UP 1994 Fully 

generational

Weighted-average assumptions to determine defined benefit cost:

   Discount rate 5.00% 4.50%

   Rate of pension increases 1.00% 1.00%

   Rate of increase in future compensation 3.50% 3.50%

   Mortality Table
UP 1994 Fully 

generational

UP 1994 Fully 

generational
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Actuarial assumption sensitivities: 
 
The discount rate is sensitive to changes in market conditions arising during the reporting 
period.   
 
The results of a 25 basis points increase or decrease over the financial assumptions used in the 
measurement of the defined benefit obligation and defined benefit expense are summarized in 
the table below: 
 

Discount

Rate Compensation Pension

Pension obligation 851$               195$                604$             

Pension expense 70$                 15$                  43$               

Discount

Rate Compensation Pension

Pension obligation 1,016$            353$                678$             

Pension expense 79$                 27$                  48$               

2018

2017

 
 
The effect of assuming an increase of 1 year in life expectancy would increase the benefit 
obligation by $0.5 million (2017: $0.6 million) and pension benefits expense by $37,000 
(2017:$41,000). 
 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 14.5 years (2017: 16.3 
years).  
 
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other 
assumptions constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the 
assumptions may be correlated.  When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit 
obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined 
benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the year) has 
been applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 
 
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change 
compared to the prior period. 
 

The DB Provisions owns 1,410,825 (2017: 1,410,825) common shares and $0.6 million 
(2017: $0.6 million) preference shares of the Bank.  These shares have a market value of $6.9 
million (2017: $7.5 million) which represents 23.93% (2017: 25.65%) of the DB Provisions’ 
assets. 
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The major categories of DB Provisions assets at December 31, 2018 are as follows: 
 

2018 2017

Balance at banks 1,214$         1,560$         

Equity instruments 10,532         11,570         

Government bonds 12,523         11,009         

Other debt instruments 1,875           1,882           

Preferred equity 2,718           3,085           

Liabilities (29)              (69)              

Fair value of plan assets 28,833$       29,037$       
 

 
Given that the DB Provisions is currently overfunded, the Bank does not expect to make any 
contributions in 2019 in respect of the DB Provisions. 
 
DB Provisions funds held at the Bank and related interest expense are as follows: 
 

2018 2017

Deposits 981$       1,177$    

Interest expense 21$         51$         

 
 

DC Provisions 

 
The DC Provisions requires a defined contribution be made by the Bank for plan members.  
Eligibility in the DC Provisions includes all employees in active employment of the Bank who 
have at least 1 year of service or have reached the age of 25 and who met the eligibility 
requirements of the DC Provisions on or after October 1, 2013 or were hired after September 
1, 2013. 
 
The DC Provisions includes a guaranteed investment option at the discretion of the employee 
whereby the Bank guarantees a specified return as defined by the Bank (the “Guaranteed 
Investment Contract”).  This option is primarily invested in Bahamian Government (and 
Government-related) debt, other fixed income securities, and equity shares in the Bank.  
Currently, this guarantee is 4.25% and will expire in 2019.  Other than to meet the required 
funding of this segment of the DC Provisions, the Bank has no legal or constructive obligation 
to pay further contributions to the DC Provisions. 
 
Contributions to the DC Provisions of the Pension Plan started on November 1, 2013 for 
eligible employees.  The amounts recognised as an expense under the DC Provisions are as 
follows: 
 

2018 2017

Pension expense included in staff costs 1,630$    1,576$    
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The DC Provisions owns 2,882,980 (2017: 3,382,980) common shares and $1.8 million (2017: 
$1.8 million) preference shares of the Bank.  These shares have a market value of $14.8 
million (2017: $18.4 million) which represents 25.9% (2017: 29.0%) of the DC Provisions 
assets. 
 
The funded status of the Guaranteed Investment Contract available through the DC Provisions 
is as follows: 
 

2018 2017

Fair value of plan asset 51,687$  53,866$  

Present value of the funded benefit obligation (44,640)   (45,447)   

Surplus in Guaranteed Investment Contract 7,047$    8,419$    
 

 
The remeasurement gain of defined benefit obligation included in other comprehensive income 
is as follows: 
 

2018 2017

DB Provisions 1,073$          4,642$            

DC Provisions -  Guaranteed Investment Contract (1,372)           4,906              

(299)$            9,548$            
 

 

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Loan commitments 

 
In the ordinary course of business, the Group had commitments as at December 31, 2018, as 
follows: 

 

2018 2017

Mortgage commitments 4,308$    7,357$    

Revolving credit lines 27,959    30,008    

32,267$  37,365$  
 

 
Revolving credit lines are undrawn lending facilities that have been approved by the Bank to 
meet the requirements of customers.  They are revocable at the Bank’s discretion.  The amount 
shown represents the maximum amount of additional credit that the Bank could be obligated to 
extend.   
 
These financial instruments are subject to the Group’s standard credit policies and procedures. 
 
Capital commitments 
 
There were no capital commitments as at December 31, 2018 (2017: Nil). 
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Lease commitments 

 
The future minimum rental payments required under non-cancellable operating leases as at 
December 31, 2018 are as follows: 

 

2018 2017

Year $ $

2018 -                    554              

2019 567                534              

2020 198                165              

2021 13                  -                   
2022 -                    -                   

778$              1,253$         
 

 

Letters of Credit 

 
The Bank has a standby letter of credit with Citibank N.A. for US$2.3 million, which was 
established to secure settlement transactions with MasterCard and Visa.  This standby credit 
line is secured by time deposits totaling $2.3 million, which are included in ‘Cash and deposits 
with banks’ in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
Other contingent liabilities 
 
The Group is involved in various legal proceedings covering a range of matters that arise in the 
ordinary course of business activities.  Management is of the view that no material losses will 
arise as a result of these proceedings. 
 

 

24. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

a. Capital management - The Group manages its capital to ensure that it has a strong 
capital base to support the development of its business.  The capital maintained exceeds 
regulatory capital requirements.  The Group maximizes the return to shareholders 
through optimization of its debt and equity balance.  The Group’s risk management 
structure promotes making sound business decisions by balancing risk and reward.  It 
promotes revenue generating activities that are consistent with the Group’s risk appetite, 
the Bank’s policies and the maximization of shareholder return. 
 
The capital structure of the Bank consists of preference shares and equity attributable to 
the common equity holders of the Bank, comprising issued capital, general reserves, 
share premium and retained earnings as disclosed in Notes 15 and 17.  The Board 
Executive Committee reviews the capital structure at least annually.  As part of this 
review, the Executive Committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated 
with each class of capital.  Based on recommendations of the Executive Committee the 
Bank manages its capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues, 
(common or preference) and the redemption of preference shares. 
 
The Central Bank requires that the Bank maintains a ratio of total regulatory capital to 
risk-weighted assets at a minimum of 17% (2017:17%). The Bank’s capital ratio for 
2018 was 34% (2017: 32%) 
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Capital regulatory requirements for subsidiary companies are managed through the 
Bank.  The Group’s strategy is unchanged from 2017. 
 
Laurentide is licensed to conduct long term insurance business under The Insurance Act 
2005 (the “Act”). 
 
Under paragraph 60(1) a of The Insurance (General) Regulations, 2010 (the 
“Regulations”) an insurance company is required to have a minimum paid-up and 
unencumbered share capital of not less than three million dollars.  As at December 31, 
2018 Laurentide has $300,300 (2017: $300,300) in share capital and $2,750,000 (2017: 
$2,750,000) in contributed surplus.  Laurentide’s board passed a resolution on December 
6, 2011 making the contributed surplus non-distributable. 
 
Laurentide is required to establish and maintain a minimum statutory deposit of $2 
million, such deposit to be held in trust pursuant to section 43(2) of the Act and 
paragraph 62 of the Regulations.  The LIM (Laurentide Insurance Management) 
Statutory Reserve Trust was established on December 20, 2011 with assets valued at 
$2,289,300 as at December 31, 2018 (2017: $2,289,300). 
 
Laurentide is required to maintain a solvency margin pursuant to paragraph 90 of the 
Regulations.  For the purposes of the Regulations, margin of solvency means the excess 
of the value of its admissible assets over the amount of its liabilities.  The required 
margin of solvency is the greater of (a) twenty per cent of the premium income, 
including annuity premiums, in its last financial year; or (b) five hundred thousand 
dollars, plus the minimum amount of capital required.  As at December 31, 2018, the 
minimum margin of solvency was $3,746,402 (2017: $3,500,000).  Laurentide’s 
solvency margin at December 31, 2018 was $36,985,371 (2017: $34,315,489) resulting 
in a surplus of $33,238,969 (2017: $30,815,489). 
 
Paragraph 68 of the Regulations stipulates that of the value of the admissible assets 
which Laurentide must at any time have in order to maintain the minimum margin of 
solvency required by the Act, at least sixty per cent shall be in the form of qualifying 
assets.  As at December 31, 2018, Laurentide had $39,993,331 (2017: $39,993,331) in 
qualifying assets and $39,993,331 (2017: $39,993,331) in admissible assets as defined 
under paragraphs 70 and 72 of the Regulations, respectively. 
 
During the year, the Group was in compliance with all externally imposed capital 
requirements. 
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b. Interest rate risk - Interest rate risk is the potential for a negative impact on the 
consolidated statement of financial position and/or consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income arising from adverse changes in the value of 
financial instruments as a result of changes in interest rates. 
 
Interest rate risk or interest rate sensitivity results primarily from differences in the 
repricing dates of assets and liabilities.  Interest rate risk exposures or “gaps” may 
produce favourable or unfavourable effects on interest margins depending on the nature 
of the gap and the direction of interest rate movement and/or the expected volatility of 
those interest rates.  When assets have a shorter average maturity than liabilities, an 
increase in interest rates would have a positive impact on net interest margins, and 
conversely, if more liabilities than assets mature or are repriced in a particular time 
interval then a negative impact on net interest margin would result.  The consolidated 
gap position shows more assets than liabilities repriced in periods greater than one year.  
This is a typical position for a financial institution with a large personal customer base.  
The following table sets out the Group’s interest rate risk exposure as at December 31, 
2018, and represents the Group’s risk exposure at this point in time only. 
 

Interest Rate Sensitivity 
 
If interest rates increase/decrease by 50 basis points and all other variables remain 
constant, the Group’s profit over the next 12 months is estimated to increase/decrease by 
$1.1 million (2017:$0.9 million). 
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Repricing date of interest sensitive instruments Non interest

As of December 31, 2018 Within 3 Months 3 - 12 months Over 1 - 5 Years Over 5 years rate sensitive Total

Assets

Cash and deposits with banks 785$                    1,528$                 -$                          -$                           31,697$             34,010$              

Balances with The Central Bank of The Bahamas -                          147,772             147,772              

Investments 400,112               -                           37,657                   15,445                   4,358                 457,572              

Loans and advances to customers 42,393                 219,845               560,292                 169,888                 -                        992,418              

Other assets -                          -                           -                            -                             15                      15                       

Total financial assets 443,290$             221,373$             597,949$               185,333$               183,842$           1,631,787$         

Liabilities 

Deposits from customers 682,227$             239,536$             379,047$               10,434$                 -$                      1,311,244$         

Other liabilities -                          -                           -                            -                             15,513               15,513                

Total financial liabilities 682,227$             239,536$             379,047$               10,434$                 15,513$             1,326,757$         

Interest rate sensitivity gap (238,937)$           (18,163)$              218,902$               174,899$               

Repricing date of interest sensitive instruments Non interest

As of December 31, 2017 Within 3 Months 3 - 12 months Over 1 - 5 Years Over 5 years rate sensitive Total

Assets

Cash and deposits with banks 784$                    1,157$                 -$                          -$                           28,670$             30,611$              

Balances with The Central Bank of The Bahamas -                          -                           -                            -                             98,288               98,288                

Investments 336,253               4,099                   32,316                   28,575                   3,598                 404,841              

Loans and advances to customers 54,215                 231,552               166,822                 601,380                 -                        1,053,969           

Other assets -                          -                           -                            -                             15                      15                       

Total financial assets 391,252$             236,808$             199,138$               629,955$               130,571$           1,587,724$         

Liabilities 

Deposits from customers 619,611$             257,450$             386,984$               10,217$                 -$                      1,274,262$         

Other liabilities -                          -                           -                            -                             14,991               14,991                

Total financial liabilities 619,611$             257,450$             386,984$               10,217$                 14,991$             1,289,253$         

Interest rate sensitivity gap (228,359)$           (20,642)$              (187,846)$             619,738$                
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c. Credit risk - Credit and counterparty risk is the potential for loss due to the failure of a 
borrower, endorser, guarantor or counterparty to repay a loan or honour a financial 
obligation.  This is the most significant measurable risk the Group faces. 
 
The Bank’s credit policies are designed to maximize the risk/return trade off.  The 
Bank’s credit policies including authorized lending limits are based on a segregation of 
authority and centralized management approval with periodic independent review by the 
Bank’s Internal Audit department.  Consumer credit is assessed and authorized in 
branches within credit policies established by the Bank.  Credit scoring systems are used 
to ensure these policies are consistently applied across the Bank.  A key factor in the 
Bank managing and constraining its credit risk exposure is the close review and follow 
up of its credit portfolios to quickly identify indications of potential failure to perform 
according to the terms of the contract and to take the appropriate steps to maintain or 
restore these accounts to performing according to the terms of the contracts. 
 
During the year the Bank constrained its credit policy to reduce lending in higher risk 
segments as the economy still struggled during the year amid increasing competition for 
higher quality loans.  As a result, the Bank’s loan portfolio contracted during the year.   
 
The Group places its deposits with banks in good standing with the Central Bank and 
other regulators in jurisdictions in which deposits are placed.   
 

Expected Credit Loss Measurement 

 
ECL is defined as the weighted expected probable value of the discounted credit loss 
(principal and interest). It represents the present value of the difference between the 
contractual cash flows and the expected cash flows (including principal and interest).  
 
Expected credit loss is the discounted product of the probability of default (“PD”), loss 
given default (“LGD”) and exposure at default (“EAD”) parameters defined as follows: 
 

• PD – The estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time period.  
 

• LGD – The estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference 
between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to 
receive, including discounted cash flows from any collateral. LGD is expressed as a 
percentage of the EAD.   

 

• EAD – The estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account 
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of 
principal and interest, and expected drawdowns on committed facilities.  

 
The Group uses a Point-in-Time (“PIT”) analysis while having regard to historical loss 
data and forward looking macro-economic data. 
 
The lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12-moth PD.  
The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of 
initial recognition throughout the lifetime of the loan.   
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The table below shows the average lifetime PD for financial assets for which ECL 
amounts are recognised. 

January 1 December 31

2018 2018

Residential mortgage 54% 50%

Business 51% 45%

Personal 35% 35%

Credit card 40% 34%

Government 3% 3%

All portfolios 37% 36%  
 
The estimate of expected cash shortfalls reflect the cash flows expected from collateral 
and other credit enhancements that are part of the contractual terms and are not 
recognised separately by the Bank’s (e.g. properties collateralized for mortgage loans 
are not recognised on the Bank’s balance sheet).  
   
Such estimates reflect the amount and timing of cash flows that are expected from 
foreclosure on the collateral less the costs of obtaining and selling the collateral, 
irrespective of whether foreclosure is probable. 
 
Any cash flows that are expected from the realization of the collateral beyond the 
contractual maturity of the contract are included in ECL modelling. Where appropriate, 
the Group considers the time to sell and the cost to sell.  Further, “Forced Sale” 
discounts are also included to account for reductions in value due to forced sales and 
deterioration of collateral held.     
 
In addition, the cost directly associated with realizing collateral form part of the ECL 
calculation.  In the short term, this is set by the Group’s executive management and is 
based on their understanding of the market, the economic environment and the Group’s 
experience.  This is expressed as a discount factor (nominal value).  The Group also 
includes recovery cash flow assumptions in LGD which are discounted back to the 
point of default at the original effective interest rate.   
 

Internal Risk Ratings 

 

Internal risk ratings are assigned according to the Group’s risk management framework.  
Changes in internal risk ratings are primarily reflected in the PD parameters, which are 
estimated based on the Group’s historical loss experience at the relevant risk segment or 
risk rating level, adjusted for forward-looking information. 
 

Weighting of Expected Credit Loss 

 

A multiple probability model has been adopted by the Group.  The model was developed 
to allow scenario analysis and management overlay where deemed necessary (this 
applies to the weighing assigned to the estimates grouping).  Three calculations for ECL 
estimates are generated representing base case, best case and worse case. Once an ECL 



 

59 
 

calculation has been developed for each scenario, a weight is applied to each estimate 
based on the likelihood of occurrence to arrive at a final weighted ECL.  
 

 
The weighting assigned to each scenario as at December 31, 2018 and January 1, 2018 
was as follows: 

Base Best Worse

Residential mortgage 70% 10% 20%

Business 70% 10% 20%

Personal 70% 10% 20%
 

 

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk 

 
For financial assets recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position, the 
exposure to credit risk equals their carrying amount.  For standby letters of credit, the 
maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount that the Bank would have to 
pay if the standby letters of credit are called upon. 
 
For mortgage commitments and revolving credit lines that are irrevocable over the life of 
the respective facilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount of the 
committed facilities. 
 
The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial assets for 
which an ECL allowance is recognised.  The gross carrying amount of the financial 
assets represents the Group’s maximum exposure to the credit risk of these assets. 
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2017

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total

Gross carrying amount

Residential mortgage 86,796$             73,188$        40,772$      200,756$       211,222$      

Business 18,175               7,243            4,195          29,613           31,283          

Personal 652,066             106,373        19,078        777,517         840,370        

Credit card 32,115               3,896            836             36,847           38,294          

Government 22,500               -                   -                  22,500           10,000          

811,652             190,700        64,881        1,067,233      1,131,169     

Impairment allowances

Residential mortgage 314                    4,569            13,121        18,004           22,035          

Business 399                    300               653             1,352             1,728            

Personal 16,696               23,510          13,406        53,612           49,845          

Credit card 856                    583               408             1,847             3,592            

Government -                         -                   -                  -                     -                    

18,265               28,962          27,588        74,815           77,200          

Carrying amount

Residential mortgage 86,482               68,619          27,651        182,752         189,187        

Business 17,776               6,943            3,542          28,261           29,555          

Personal 635,370             82,863          5,672          723,905         790,525        

Credit card 31,259               3,313            428             35,000           34,702          

Government 22,500               -                   -                  22,500           10,000          

793,387$           161,738$      37,293$      992,418$       1,053,969$   

2018

 
 

Transfers between Stages 

 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on its financial assets 
has increased significantly since initial recognition.  The assessment of whether an asset 
is in stage 1 or 2 considers the relative change in the probability of default occurring 
over the expected life of the instrument, and is not assessed based on the change in the 
amount of the expected credit losses.  This involves setting quantitative tests combined 
with additional indicators such as credit risk classification and other observable inputs.    
 
Transfers between Stages 1 and 2 are based on the assessment of significant increases in 
credit risk relative to initial recognition.  The impact of moving from 12-month expected 
credit losses to lifetime expected credit losses, or vice versa, varies by portfolio and is 
dependent on the expected remaining life at the date of the transfer. Stage transfers may 
result in significant fluctuations in the Group’s expected credit losses. 
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Movement in Impairment Allowances by Stage 

 

The impairment allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, 
including but not limited to: 

• Transfers between Stage 1 and 2 or 3 due to financial assets experiencing 
significant increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in 
the period, and the consequent “step up” (or “step down”) between 12-month 
and lifetime ECL; 

• Additional allowances for new financial assets recognised during the period, as 
well as releases for financials assets de-recognised in the period; 

• Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs, and LGDs in 
the period, arising from regular refreshing of inputs to the model; 

• Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and 
assumptions; and  

• Financial assets derecognised during the period and write-offs of allowances 
related to the assets that were written off during the period. 
 

The following tables explain the changes in the impairment allowance by portfolio 
between the beginning and the end of the annual period due to these factors. 
 
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Residential mortgage

Impairment allowances as at January 1, 2018 554$              5,747$          13,199$         19,500$          

Transfers:

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (39)                 39                 -                     

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (14)                 14                  -                     

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 3                    (3)                  -                     

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 (579)              579                -                     

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 47                  (47)                 -                     

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 1,217            (1,217)            -                     

New financial assets originated 28                  2                   -                     30                   

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (227)               (1,541)           1,321             (447)               

Financials assets derecognised (38)                 (313)              (5)                   (356)               

Financials assets writen-off -                     -                    (723)               (723)               

Impairment allowances as at December 31, 2018 314$              4,569$          13,121$         18,004$          
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Business

Impairment allowances as at January 1, 2018 255$              344$             782$              1,381$            

Transfers:

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (1)                   1                   -                     

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (2)                   2                    -                     

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 4                    (4)                  -                     

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 (162)              162                -                     

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 176                (176)               -                     

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 5                   (5)                   -                     

New financial assets originated 178                178                 

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (211)               116               320                225                 

Financials assets derecognised (423)               (423)               

Financials assets writen-off -                     -                    (9)                   (9)                   

Impairment allowances as at December 31, 2018 399$              300$             653$              1,352$            

 
 
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Personal

Impairment allowances as at January 1, 2018 20,408$         19,296$        13,705$         53,409$          

Transfers:

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (1,209)            1,209            -                     

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (1,587)            1,587             -                     

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 936                (936)              -                     

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 (4,589)           4,589             -                     

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 1,030             (1,030)            -                     

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 2,077            (2,077)            -                     

New financial assets originated/recoveries 5,494             2,035            1,251             8,780              

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (3,342)            5,561            36,033           38,252            

Financials assets derecognised (5,034)            (1,143)           (652)               (6,829)            

Financials assets writen-off -                     -                    (40,000)          (40,000)          

Impairment allowances as at December 31, 2018 16,696$         23,510$        13,406$         53,612$          
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Credit Cards

Impairment allowances as at January 1, 2018 852$              915$             1,258$           3,025$            

Transfers:

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (59)                 59                 -                     

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (9)                   9                    -                     

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 617                (617)              -                     

Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 (41)                41                  -                     

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 477                (477)               -                     

Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 135               (135)               -                     

New financial assets originated/recoveries 59                  14                 10                  83                   

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (1,081)            118               1,828             865                 

Financials assets writen-off -                     -                    (2,126)            (2,126)            

Impairment allowances as at December 31, 2018 856$              583$             408$              1,847$            

 

 

Credit quality 

 

The following table is an analysis of financial instruments by credit quality: 
 

Original Original

Contract Restructured Total Contract Restructured Total

Cash and deposit with banks &

  Balances with the Central Bank of The Bahamas

Neither past due or impaired 181,782$    -$                    181,782$    128,899$    -$                    128,899$    

Past due but not impaired -                  -                      -                  -                  -                      -                  

Impaired -                  -                      -                  -                  -                      -                  

181,782$    -$                    181,782$    128,899$    -$                    128,899$    

Investments

Neither past due or impaired 457,572$    -$                    457,572$    404,841$    -$                    404,841$    

Past due but not impaired -                  -                      -                  -                  -                      -                  

Impaired -                  -                      -                  -                  -                      -                  

457,572$    -$                    457,572$    404,841$    -$                    404,841$    

Loans and advances to customers

Neither past due or impaired 763,755$    93,169$          856,924$    834,557$    68,859$          903,416$    

Past due but not impaired 130,265      15,163            145,428      99,714        47,511            147,225      

Impaired 37,929        26,952            64,881        57,772        22,756            80,528        

931,949$    135,284$        1,067,233$ 992,043$    139,126$        1,131,169$ 

2018 2017

 
Financial assets are past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when 
contractually due. 
 
The average mortgage balance was $108,522 (2017:$111,298) while the average 
business account balance was $223,909 (2017: $240,677).  The average consumer 
balance was $21,547 (2017: $22,292).  The largest exposure to a single customer, other 
than the Government of The Bahamas (Note 9), was approximately $2 million (2017: $2 
million). Mortgage loans and business loans can extend up to 35 years and 10 years, 
respectively while consumer loans can extend up to 10 years. 
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The credit quality of loans and advances to customers is shown in the following table: 
 

Original Original

Contract Restructured Total Contract Restructured Total

Loans and advances to customers

Residential mortgage

Neither past due or impaired 80,676$        33,142$          113,818$        107,053$       20,002$            127,055$     

Past due but not impaired 40,137          6,029              46,166            25,200           20,873              46,073         

  Impaired 23,177          17,595            40,772            21,619           16,475              38,094         

143,990$      56,766$          200,756$        153,872$       57,350$            211,222$     

Business

Neither past due or impaired 14,525$        3,261$            17,786$          17,397$         866$                 18,263$       

Past due but not impaired 7,399            233                 7,632              7,326             3,062                10,388         

  Impaired 3,545            650                 4,195              2,311             321                   2,632           

25,469$        4,144$            29,613$          27,034$         4,249$              31,283$       

Personal

Neither past due or impaired 617,211$      56,766$          673,977$        672,299$       47,991$            720,290$     

Past due but not impaired 75,561          8,901              84,462            58,994           23,576              82,570         

  Impaired 10,371          8,707              19,078            31,550           5,960                37,510         

703,143$      74,374$          777,517$        762,843$       77,527$            840,370$     

Credit card

Neither past due or impaired 28,843$        -$                    28,843$          27,808$         -$                     27,808$       

Past due but not impaired 7,168            -                      7,168              8,194             -                       8,194           

  Impaired 836               -                      836                 2,292             -                       2,292           

36,847$        -$                    36,847$          38,294$         -$                     38,294$       

Government

Neither past due or impaired 22,500$        -$                    22,500$          10,000$         -$                     10,000$       

Past due but not impaired -                   -                      -                      -                    -                       -                  

  Impaired -                   -                      -                      -                    -                       -                  

22,500$        -$                    22,500$          10,000$         -$                     10,000$       

931,949$      135,284$        1,067,233$     992,043$       139,126$          1,131,169$  

2018 2017

 
 
All financial assets outside of loans and advances to customers are neither past due nor 
impaired. 
 
The table below shows the distribution of loans and advances to customers that are 
neither past due or impaired: 
 

2018 2017

Satisfactory risk 849,797$       895,285$      

Watch list 7,127             8,131            

856,924$       903,416$      

 
Watch list accounts are those that are exhibiting signs of distress or accounts that have 
been in distress in the past.  Indications of distress include: consistent arrears reflecting 
reduced income of the borrower, death of one of the parties to the loan, marital issues or 
divorce, illness, diminished business cash flow etc. 
 
Conversely, satisfactory accounts are accounts that are generally being serviced as 
agreed and there are no material indications that the borrower will default.   
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The analysis of the age of loans and advances to customers that were past due but not 
impaired is as follows: 
 

Residential Credit

mortgage Business Personal card Total

Past due up to 29 days 35,086$       7,051$      56,157$   4,204$    102,498$  

Past due 30 - 59 days 6,304           460           17,015     1,807      25,586      

Past due 60 - 89 days 4,776           121           11,290     1,157      17,344      

46,166$       7,632$      84,462$   7,168$    145,428$  

Residential Credit

mortgage Business Personal card Total

Past due up to 29 days 34,386$       6,838$      56,223$   5,497$    102,944$  

Past due 30 - 59 days 9,153           518           16,094     1,657      27,422      

Past due 60 - 89 days 2,534           3,032        10,253     1,040      16,859      

46,073$       10,388$    82,570$   8,194$    147,225$  

2017

2018

 
 

Restructured loans 

 
Restructuring activity is designed to manage customer relationships, maximise 
collection opportunities and, if possible, avoid foreclosure or repossession.  Such 
activities include extended payment arrangements, approved debt management plans, 
deferring foreclosure, modification, loan rewrites and/or deferral of payments pending a 
change in circumstances.  Restructuring of consumer loans normally results in additional 
collateral, a co-signer or guarantor or a garnishee of salary being added to the loan.  
Following restructuring, an overdue consumer account is normally reset from delinquent 
to current status.  Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria 
which, in the judgment of management, indicate that repayment will probably continue.  
These policies are required to be kept under continual review and their application varies 
according to the nature of the market, the product, and the availability of empirically 
based data.   
 
In the Group’s current IFRS 9 ECL weighted risk rating model, restructured accounts 
attract a higher risk weighting compared to accounts that have not been restructured. 
 
Prior to January 1, 2018 management determined that due to a potential increased 
propensity to default on restructured accounts, both the impairment allowance on 
collectively assessed performing accounts and the impairment allowance on non-
performing accounts were increased to take this into account. 
 

Collateral Relative to Loans and advances to customers  

 
It is the Bank’s policy to determine that, at the time of origination, loans are within the 
customer’s capacity to repay, rather than to rely excessively on security.  Loans 
classified as personal typically take into account the customer’s standing and 
employment and credit histories and are generally unsecured.  The Bank has guidelines 
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as part of its credit policy on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral which are 
reviewed regularly. 
 
The principal collateral types are as follows: 
 

• in the personal sector - garnishees over salary and chattel mortgages; 

• in the residential mortgage sector - mortgages over residential properties; 

• in the commercial and industrial sector - charges over business assets such as 
premises, stock and debtors; 

• in the commercial real estate sector - charges over the properties being financed. 
 

The Group closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered credit-
impaired, as it becomes more likely that the Group will take possession of the collateral 
to mitigate potential credit losses.  Financial assets that are credit-impaired and related 
collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shown below as at December 31, 
2018. 

Gross Impairment Carrying Value of 

exposure allowance amount collateral held

Residential mortgage 40,772$               13,121$          27,651$            33,677$                  

Business 4,195                   652                 3,543                5,538                      

Personal 19,078                 13,406            5,672                -                              

Credit card 836                      408                 428                   -                              

64,881$               27,587$          37,294$            39,215$                  
 

 
The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not changed during the 
reporting period and there has been no significant change in the overall quality of the 
collateral held by the Group since the prior period. 
 

ECL sensitivity analysis 

 

Set out below are the impact of changes to the Bank’s ECL as at December 31, 2018 that 
would result from reasonably possible changes to the Bank’s key ECL drivers.   
 

 5% (-)  5% (+)

Residential mortgage (34)$                 34$                 

Business (4)                     4                     

Personal (3,152)              3,152              

Credit cards (196)                 196                 

(3,386)$            3,386$            

2018

Loss given default (LGD)
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Best Best Worse Worse

 5% (+)  5% (-)  5% (+)  5% (-)

Residential mortgage (211)$         211$          187$         (187)$         

Business (6)               6                13             (13)             

Personal (1,008)        1,008         2,829        (2,915)        

(1,225)$      1,225$       3,029$      (3,115)$      

2018

ECL Scenario Weighting

 
 
 

d. Liquidity risk - Liquidity risk is the potential for loss if the Group is unable to meet 
financial commitments in a timely manner at reasonable prices as they fall due.  
Financial commitments include liabilities to depositors and suppliers, and lending, 
pledging and investment commitments.  Managing liquidity and funding risk is essential 
to maintaining both depositor confidence and stability in earnings. 
 
The Group manages liquidity and funding risk by ensuring that sufficient liquid assets 
and funding capacity are available to meet financial commitments, even in times of 
stress.  The Directors’ Executive Committee oversees the Group’s liquidity and funding 
risk management framework which includes operating within clearly defined Board 
limits, regulatory liquidity requirements and strong effective processes to monitor and 
manage risk, including contingency plans to facilitate managing through a distress 
situation.  Standby lines of credit which are a part of the contingency plan are disclosed 
in Note 23. 
 
Included in deposits from customers are deposits totaling $235 million from a single 
customer representing 18% of the total deposits from customers.  The amounts are 
comprised primarily of certificate of deposits and are deposits from a related party. 
 
There have been no changes in the policies and procedures for managing liquidity risk 
compared to the prior year. 
 
The following table summarizes the carrying amount of consolidated financial assets and 
liabilities of the Group into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period to 
the contractual maturity dates at of the date of the consolidated statement of financial 
position and represent undiscounted cash flows.   
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As of December 31, 2018  Within 3 Months 

 3 - 12 

months 

Over 1 - 5 

Years Over 5 years Total

Assets

Cash and deposits with banks 32,853$               1,157$          34,010$         

Balances with The Central Bank of The Bahamas 147,772               147,772         

Investments 99,408                 31,589          96,819          357,527        585,343         

Loans and advances to customerss 12,800                 14,374          326,154        1,557,119     1,910,447      

Other assets 15                        15                  

Total financial assets 292,848$             47,120$        422,973$      1,914,646$   2,677,587$    

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 682,361$             241,784$      404,387$      15,348$        1,343,880$    

Life insurance fund liability 332                      996               1,623            2,951             

Other liabilities 15,513                 15,513           

Total financial liabilities 698,206$             242,780$      406,010$      15,348$        1,362,344$    

Net liquidity gap (405,358)$            (195,660)$     16,963$        1,899,298$   1,315,243$    

As of December 31, 2017  Within 3 Months 

 3 - 12 

months 

Over 1 - 5 

Years Over 5 years Total

Assets

Cash and deposits with banks 29,454$               1,157$          30,611$         

Balances with The Central Bank of The Bahamas 98,288                 98,288           

Investments 67,045                 11,067          90,550          377,539        546,201         

Loans and advances to customers 13,019                 14,711          308,540        1,742,042     2,078,312      

Other assets 15                        15                  

Total financial assets 207,821$             26,935$        399,090$      2,119,581$   2,753,427$    

Liabilities 

Deposits from customers 619,924$             260,951$      417,315$      15,743$        1,313,933$    

Life insurance fund liability -$                  

Other liabilities 14,991                 14,991           

Total financial liabilities 634,915$             260,951$      417,315$      15,743$        1,328,924$    

Net liquidity gap (427,094)$            (234,016)$     (18,225)$       2,103,838$   1,424,503$    

 

e. Insurance risk - Insurance risk is the risk of loss resulting from the occurrence of an 
insured event.  Laurentide issues contracts for credit life insurance only on loans written 
by the Bank.  All lives insured are debtors under closed-end consumer credit transactions 
that arise from direct loans with the Bank.  The amount of life insurance at risk on any 
one individual is never more than the amount of the indebtedness outstanding from time 
to time. The underwriting strategy attempts to ensure that the underwritten risks are well 
diversified in terms of amount of risk to achieve a sufficiently large population of risks 
to reduce the variability of the expected outcome.  At present, this risk does not vary 

significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Group.  To mitigate risk, no 
insurance contract is issued to persons aged 65 and over.  Prior to 2017 no insurance 
contract was issued to persons aged 60 and over.  The amount of life insurance at risk on 
any one policy is as follows: 
 
Policies written up to 2016: 

Auto loans - Maximum of $10,000 or net indebtedness to the Bank 
All other loans - Maximum of $20,000 or net indebtedness to the Bank 
 
Policies written after 2016: 

All loans - Maximum of $70,000 or net indebtedness to Bank 
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f. Currency risk - Currency risk is the risk that the fair values and/or amounts realised on 
settlement of financial instruments, and settlements of foreign currency transactions, will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.  Currency risk arises when future 
commercial transactions and recognised monetary assets and liabilities are denominated 
in currencies other than the Bank’s functional currency.  The Bank is not subject to 
significant currency risk as its foreign currency transactions and monetary assets and 
liabilities are predominately denominated in currencies with foreign exchange rates 
currently fixed against the Bank’s functional currency. 

 

g. Operational risk - Operational risk is the potential for loss resulting from inadequate or 
failed internal processes or systems, human error or external events not related to credit, 
market or liquidity risks.  The Group manages this risk by maintaining a comprehensive 
system of internal control and internal audit, including organizational and procedural 
controls.  The system of internal control includes written communication of the Group’s 
policies and procedures governing corporate conduct and risk management; 
comprehensive business planning; effective segregation of duties; delegation of authority 
and personal accountability; careful selection and training of personnel and sound and 
conservative accounting policies, which are regularly updated.  These controls and audits 
are designed to provide the Group with reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against unauthorized use or disposition, liabilities are recognised, and the Group is in 
compliance with all regulatory requirements. 
 

25. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 
 

While preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 management noted that it had failed to account for its holdings of Class B 
Common Shares in MasterCard Incorporated International as a financial asset at fair value 
through profit and loss since being issued the shares in 2006.    
 
The error has been corrected by restating each of the affected financial statement line items for 
the prior periods as follows: 

 

As previously 

reported

Fair value 

adjustment
As restated

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

January 1, 2017 $ $ $

Investments 307,507                  2,195                       309,702                   

   Retained earnings 219,396                  2,195                       221,591                   

   Total equity 332,857                  2,195                       335,052                   

December 31, 2017

Investments 401,588                  3,253                       404,841                   

   Retained earnings 239,294                  3,253                       242,547                   

   Total equity 352,433                  3,253                       355,686                   

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 

and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended December 31, 2017

 Unrealised gains on equity investment -                              1,058                       1,058                       

   Total income 160,785                  1,058                       161,843                   

   Total profit 50,076                    1,058                       51,134                     

   Total comprehensive income 59,624                    1,058                       60,682                     

Impact of Error
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26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

• On January 14, 2019, the Board of Directors approved an extraordinary dividend on 
common shares in the amount of $0.02 per share which was paid on February 28, 2019 
to common shareholders. 

 

• On November 29, 2018 the Board of Directors approved the redemption of the Bank’s 
preference shares classes J, K, L, M and N.  The redemption date will be May 1, 2019 
and is expected to be $48.9 million. 

 

* * * * * * 


